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2. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/ 
 ACRONYMS

AACR 2  Anglo-American Cataloguing 
  Rules 2nd ed.
AfLIA   African Library and Information   
  Associations and Institutions  
BIBSA   Bibliographic Standards in South Africa
CANL   Conference of African National Libraries 
CDNL  Conference of Directors of  
  National Libraries  
CEO  Chief Executive Officer  
CFB   Centre for the Book
CFO  Chief Financial Officer
CIO  Chief Information Officer  
CHELSA Committee for Higher Education   
  Librarians of South Africa
DAC  Department of Arts and Culture
DDC   Dewey Decimal Classification
DNL  Deputy National Librarian
ICT  Information and Communications   
  Technology 

IFLA  International Federation of Library   
  Associations and Institutions
IL   Inter Lending   
ISAP  Index to South African Periodicals
ISBN   International Standard Book Number 
ISN  International Standard Number 
ISSN  International Standard Serial Number 
LIASA  Library and Information   
  Association of South Africa
LIS  Library and Information Services
MARC 21  Machine-Readable Cataloguing  
MoU  Memorandum of Understanding 
NCLIS  National Council for Library  
  and Information Services 
NLSA   National Library of South Africa
OCLC   On-line Computer Library Centre
OPD   Official Publications Depository
PFMA   Public Finance Management 
  Act No 1 of 1999 
RDA  Resource Description and Access
SABINET South African Bibliographic
  and Information Network 
SADC  Southern African Development
  Countries
SAIS  Southern African Interlending
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SALW  South African Library Week 
SCANUL-ECS Standing Conference of African
  National and University Libraries in
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  Africa
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  Central and Southern African  
  Librarians
SCM   Supply Chain Management
SETA   Sector Education and Training Authority
SETA  Skills Education Training Authority
TR  Treasury Regulation
UNESCO   United Nations Educational Scientific  
  and Cultural Organization
VOIP  Voice-Over Internet Protocol
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Introduction
The fifth Board of the National Library of South Africa 
has progressed well in the second term of office, with 
the Board Committees meeting regularly to ensure 
efficient and effective governance of the National 
Library of South Africa.

The former National Librarian, Mr John Tsebe went 
on retirement in February 2014, having served the 
National Library for 10 Years. He played a significant 
role in the LIS sector both national and internationally. 
He also served as the Chairperson of the Conference 
of Directors of National Libraries (CDNL). The Board 
wishes him well in his retirement. 

The National Library of South Africa is the institutional 
member of the International Federation of Library 
Associations and Institutions (IFLA). Several staff 
members of the NLSA are serving on the IFLA Standing 
Committees. The Board note with appreciation that 
IFLA will be hosted in South Africa in 2015 with the 
NLSA hosting the CDNL.

Following the retirement of Mr Tsebe, the Board has 
subsequently appointed the new CEO and National 
Librarian, Professor Rocky MD Ralebipi-Simela. She 
is a high calibre professional in Library and Information 
Services (LIS) sector.

High level overview of the public entity’s 
strategy and the performance of the 
public entity in its respective sector
Through its core programmes, the NLSA has 
successfully achieved their targets in meeting our 
mandate, contribution to LIS, social cohesion and 
nation building.

The NLSA is strategically placed to provide professional 
support to the Department of Arts and Culture. It 
has carried out these functions through the DAC 
conditional grant, namely: The Internet connectivity 
has been rolled out successfully nationwide. The NLSA 
has provided preservation training in the provinces, 
promoted the optimal access to information and 
knowledge resources by creating awareness, through 
marketing and promotion of the conditional grant 

projects, and the promotion of the culture of reading 
and writing through the reprint of African Literature 
Classics.

The NLSA has been awarded 3.272 million USD grant 
by Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation to support a pilot 
project to strengthen selected public libraries in South 
Africa. The fund has been awarded in partnership with 
Department of Arts and Culture Conditional Grant in 
order to enhance technology access in public libraries 
and to foster research and innovation in libraries. This 
will truly impact on the nation and public access to 
technological information resources.

Strategic Relationships
The NLSA continues to strengthen strategic 
partnerships with other libraries and institutions in 
and outside South Africa. The CEO has signed MoU’s 
with the counterparts in other countries as informed 
by the Department of Arts and Culture Bilaterals. 
These will continue to be implemented in order to 
provide reference and information services nationally 
and internationally in terms of the Act, and to provide 
for information exchange, research and Information 
Technology.

Challenges faced by the Board
The Board of the NLSA ensures the National 
Library aligns with the National Development Plan. 
Underfunding still remains the greatest challenge 

3. FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD
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to the National Library to carry out its functions as 
prescribed by the Act, namely: to act as the national 
preservation library, render a national bibliographic 
service, provide reference and information services 
nationally and internationally, and promote the culture 
of reading among South Africans

The year ahead
The following has been noted as forthcoming initiatives 
and activities of the NLSA:
• The NLSA will continue to support the DAC with 

the conditional grant projects in order to enhance 
social cohesion mandate of the DAC.

• We need to develop a scholarly culture at the 
NLSA.  

• We need to strengthen the skills base at the NLSA 
in order to play a meaningful role in the Mzansi 
economy.

Acknowledgements /Appreciation
I wish to thank the Ministry of Arts and Culture, who 
served during the period under review, the Director 
General, Mr Sibusiso Xaba and the staff of the 
Department of Arts and Culture in their support of 
the NLSA as a strategic and significant partner in 
the realisation of the social cohesion mandate of the 
DAC.

I also wish to express my sincere gratitude and 
appreciation to the management and staff of the 
NLSA, LIS Sector, stakeholders, library users, 
Friends of the NLSA and strategic partners, for all 
your contributions and support to the National Library 
of South Africa.

Ellen Tise
National Library of South Africa  
Chairperson of the Board
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Overview by the National librarian
It is indeed a pleasure for me to present the annual 
report of the National Library of South Africa (NLSA) 
for the financial year covering 2013/14. The former 
National Librarian, Mr John Tsebe, retired in February 
2014 after serving the NLSA for two terms. I would like 
to thank him for the work he has done for the NLSA, 
which he served diligently.

I wish to thank the NLSA Board for their leadership, 
commitment and support in steering the NLSA 
towards achieving its objectives and meeting its 
legislative mandate.

General financial review of the public 
entity 
During the 2013/2014 financial year, the NLSA received 
a parliamentary grant from its line department, the 
Department of Arts and Culture (DAC), amounting 
to R68 million. Deferred income realised was R11 
million with other income amounting to R3 million, and 
revenue arising from exchange of goods and services 
of R5 million. The parliamentary grant represents 79% 
of the total revenue. 

Expenditure for the same year was R84.7 million, 
including spending on the DAC conditional grant 
and other projects, thus a surplus of R1.7 million 
was realized. The 2013/14 financial year shows 
an improvement in terms of financial performance 
compared with the 2012/13 financial year, where the 
NLSA incurred a deficit of R3.9 million.

For the 2013/14 to 2014/15 financial period, the 
parliamentary grant has grown by 6.3%, indicative of 
inflationary growth as opposed to growth based on 
expansion of objectives and output. The conditional 
grant that the NLSA received from DAC, and other 
project funds, proved vital in supplementing the 
parliamentary grant. These funds allowed NLSA 
to boost its performance outcome and enhance 
development objectives. The NLSA prides itself that 
all funds were appropriately utilised for their intended 
purposes. 
 

Spending trends of the public entity 
The spending trend of the NLSA is dictated by its 
mandate grant and the objectives it needs to achieve. 
The mandate of the NLSA is complimented by 
both the conditional grant that it receives from DAC 
and funding received by the Bill and Melinda Gates 
Foundation.  These funds are mainly for strengthening 
local community libraries and ensuring Information 
and Communication Technology (ICT) connectivity in 
public and community libraries.  We are pleased to 
report significant cost savings in 2014/13 compared 
with 2012/13. This was due to a decrease in general 
operating expenses by a sizable 11%, most notably as 
a result of the capitalisation of the collections classified 
as heritage assets.   

Capacity constraints and challenges 
facing the entity
In addition to the constraints in the preceding 
paragraphs, NLSA has also been challenged with 
the need to improve the outdated Information and 
Technology (IT) systems, which hamper productivity.  
NLSA has forwarded a budget request to DAC for the 
purposes of acquiring an updated IT system. 

New or proposed activities 
The new or proposed activities in the NLSA include 
repositioning the NLSA as an LIS skills development 
and training centre in the following areas:
- Resource Description Access training

4. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S OVERVIEW
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- Preservation, conservation and digitisation   
 training 
- Establishment of a NLSA Research Centre

Requests for roll over of funds 
A request for permission to roll-over funds was made 
to the National Treasury through DAC. The funds in 
question are deferred revenue and surpluses that NLSA 
wishes to roll-over in order to cover other shortfalls.

Supply Chain Management 
There were no unsolicited bid proposals for the year 
under review as the ones awarded in the previous 
financial year are still continuing. The NLSA has SCM 
processes and systems in place. The challenges that 
we faced related to decentralization of our SCM, which 
resulted in the NLSA reporting on irregular, fruitless 
and wasteful expenditure. 

In order to curb this malady, we have now centralized 
our SCM to ensure that only SCM employees handle 
procurement and the tendering processes of the NLSA. 
Furthermore we are currently resuscitating the SCM 
committees to ensure tighter controls and segregation 
of duties. Policies in this area are also being reviewed 
in order to be up to date with current events.  

 
Plans for the future to address financial 
challenges
Management believe that the existence of the NLSA 
is crucial for South Africa as its mandate supports 
one of government’s key objectives, this being social 
cohesion and nation-building. We intend to use the 
Library’s unique resource de-acidification to increase 
the NLSA’s own income.  Moreover, before we could 
do so, we need to capacitate the NSLA with the 
requisite skills to operate the de-acidification machine, 
which is a tool that restores and preserves heritage 
collections of the nation as well as those of other 
libraries all over the world who would be interested in 
the NLSA preserving their collections.

Other income generating activities that 
NLSA plans to explore
The NLSA continues to solicit funding from other 
partners and stakeholders. During the 2013/14 
financial year, NLSA was awarded 3.272 million 
USD by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation. To 
date 2.7 million USD (R27 million) of this amount has 
been received. The bulk of these funds will be utilised 
during the 2014/15 financial year for a pilot information 
technology project. The aim of the project is to 
strengthen local communities through the provision of 
access to information technology and relevant training 
at 27 selected public libraries across South Africa. 
This pilot project will be a precursor to a large-scale 
national implementation plan.     

Audit report matters in the previous year 
and how it would be addressed 
During the last financial year the Auditor General 
expressed concern about NLSA’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. This apprehension is mainly centered 
around the post medical retirement benefit and its 
resultant liability. Although the NLSA does not currently 
have assets to meet this liability, we are in discussions 
with DAC about this matter, which we hope to resolve 
in due course. 

Another area of concern was the non-compliance with 
the SCM rules and regulations. However, as stated 
above, this matter has been addressed by ensuring 
tighter controls and improvement of processes and 
procedures.

Events after the reporting date
The NLSA in Cape Town, DAC and Department of 
Public Works have resumed discussions regarding the 
Matrix House projects for the shelving of the heritage 
assets. The NLSA has signed another agreement 
with the DAC for a R11.6 million conditional grant to 
strengthen community libraries through the provision 
of ICT and internet connectivity, Resource Description 
Access (RDA) training, preservation training to libraries, 
promotion of the culture of reading in South Africa as 
well as marketing and promotion of libraries in South 
Africa.
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Economic Viability 
Apart from the matter regarding the post medical 
retirement, as alluded to in the paragraph dealing with 
the audit report, the NLSA is economically viable. The 
entity in my opinion is very relevant as the preserver 
and custodian of the national documentary heritage 
materials, known as the heritage assets, and the 
provider of free access to knowledge resources.  

Acknowledgement and appreciation
I wish to express my sincere gratitude to the staff and 
management team of the NLSA for their contribution 
and hard-work as well as the board of the NLSA for 
their leadership, support and commitment in their 
capacity as accounting authority. 

I would further like to extend a special word of 
appreciation and gratitude to the Ministry, Executives 
and all staff of the Department of Arts and Culture for 
their continued co-operation and support during the 
year under review.

 

Prof. RMD Ralebipi-Simela 
National Librarian and Chief Executive Officer
National Library of South Africa
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following: 

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report is consistent with the annual financial statements 
audited by the Auditor General.

The annual report is complete, accurate and is free of any omissions.

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the annual report as issued by National 
Treasury.

The Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have been prepared in accordance with the GRAP standards applicable 
to the public entity.

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements and for the judgements 
made in this information.  

The accounting authority is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal control that has 
been designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the performance information, 
the human resources information and the annual financial statements.

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, the performance information, the human resources 
information and the financial affairs of the public entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2014.

Yours faithfully 

Chief Executive Officer
Prof. RMD Ralebipi-Simela 

 
Chairperson of the Board
Ellen Tise

5. STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND CONFIRMATION OF  
 ACCURACY FOR THE ANNUAL REPORT
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6. STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

6.1. Vision 
The National Library of South Africa is the leading 
National Library and information centre of excellence 
in Africa and the world.

6.2. Mission
The National Library, as the primary resource and 
custodian of South Africa’s documentary heritage, 
promotes creative, effective and efficient universal 
access to information.

6.3. Values
The NLSA espouses the following shared and unifying 
values:
•  Accountability
•  Continued improvement
•  Creativity, Initiative and Innovation
•  Enduring and sustainable relationships
•  Equality
•  Ethics
•  Excellence
•  Integrity
•  Professionalism
•  Quality
•  Redress
•  Respect
•  Transparency and openness
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7. LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES

The NLSA is a Schedule 3A public entity.

Objects
(Section 3, NLSA Act, no. 92 of 1998)
The objectives of the NLSA are to contribute to 
socioeconomic, cultural, educational, scientific and 
innovative development by collecting, recording, 
preserving and making available the national 
documentary heritage and promoting an awareness 
and appreciation thereof. This is achieved by fostering 
information literacy through facilitating access to the 
world’s information resources.

Functions
Section 4 of the NLSA of South Africa Act, no. 92 of 
1999 sets out the functions of the NLSA:
Subsection (1) deals with library functions and 
subsection (2) deals with the generic functions of a 
national cultural institution.

“(1) the functions of the NLSA are:
(a)  (i) to build up a complete collection of published 

documents emanating from and relating to 
South Africa;

 (ii) to maintain and extend any other collections 
of published and unpublished documents with 
emphasis on documents emanating from or 
relating to Southern Africa;

 (iii) to promote optimal management of collections 
of published documents held in South African 
libraries as a national resource; and

 (iv) to supplement the national resource 
contemplated in subparagraph (i) with selected 
documents;

(b) (i) to record the documents contemplated in 
paragraph (a); and

 (ii) to render a national bibliographic service and 
to act as the national bibliographic agency;

(c to promote optimal access to published 
documents, nationally and internationally;

(d)  to provide reference and information services, 
nationally and internationally;

(e)  to act as the national preservation library and 
to provide conservation services on a national 
basis;

(f)  to promote awareness and appreciation of the 
national published documentary heritage; and

(g)  to promote information awareness and 
information literacy.

(2) In order to achieve its objects and promote the 
development of library and information services 
in South Africa, the NLSA must, in relation to the 
functions referred to in subsection (1) –

(i) provide appropriate information products and 
services;

(ii) provide leadership, guidance and advice to 
South African libraries and information services;

(iii) undertake planning and co-ordination in co-
operation with other library and information 
services;

(iv) present, in consultation and co-operation 
with appropriate educational institutions and 
professional bodies, courses of training and 
education relating to the functions referred to in 
subsection (1);

(v) undertake research and development; and
(vi) liaise with libraries and other institutions in and 

outside South Africa
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BOARD OF THE NATIONAL LIBRARY OF SOUTH AFRICA 

8. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
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Performance Information
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1.  AUDITORS GENERAL    
 OF SOUTH AFRICA REPORT   
 PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES  
The AGSA/auditor currently performs the necessary 
audit procedures on the performance information to 
provide reasonable assurance in the form of an audit 
conclusion. The audit conclusion on the performance 
against predetermined objectives is included in 
the report to management, with material findings 
being reported under the Predetermined Objectives 
heading in the Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements section of the auditor’s report.

Refer to page 54 of the Report of the Auditors 
Report, published as Part E: Financial Information. 

2. SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

2.1 Performance environment 

2.1.1  Objectives of the NLSA 
(Section 3, National Library of South Africa Act, no 92 
of 1998)

The objectives and functions of the NLSA and the 
functions it is required to perform, are of a statutory 
nature and are prescribed by the National Library 
of South Africa Act, namely Act 92 of 1998. The 
NLSA is vested with a responsibility to contribute 
to socio-economic, cultural, educational, scientific 
and innovative development. This is achieved by 
collecting, recording, preserving and making available 
the national documentary heritage and promoting 
an awareness and appreciation thereof, by fostering 
information literacy and by facilitating access to the 
world’s information resources.

2.1.2 Functions of NLSA
(Section 4, National Library of South Africa Act, no 92 
of 1998)

The core business of the NLSA is to collect, record, 
preserve and make accessible all published and 
unpublished documents emanating from and relating 
to South Africa. 

The NLSA primary fields of activity are to:
• build up a complete collection of published 

documents emanating from and relating to South 
Africa;

• maintain and extend any other collections of 
published and unpublished documents with 
emphasis on documents emanating from or 
relating to Southern Africa;

• promote optimal management of collections 
of published documents held in South African 
libraries as a national resource; and

• supplement the national resource with other 
selected and relevant library materials;

• record all the documents collected  and  make 
these accessible both nationally and internationally

• render a national bibliographic service and to act 
as the national bibliographic agency;

• promote optimal access to published documents 
nationally and internationally;

• provide reference and information services, 
nationally and internationally; 

• act as the national preservation library  as well as 
and to provide conservation services on a national 
basis;

• promote awareness and appreciation of libraries as 
information centers as well as encourage reading 
of the national published heritage materials in 
various formats

• promote information awareness, build a culture 
of reading and offer information literacy to the 
general public;

• evaluate, maintain and upgrade the NLSA facilities 
in order to create a conducive environment for 
reading, study and research;

• make national library facilities accessible to 
the general public and ensure equal access to 
information for all;

• instil a culture of reading, writing and publishing in 
all official languages  in South Africa especially the 
indigenous languages

• bridge the digital divide and offer facilities to 
access electronic information including internet to 
the general public.

The NLSA also has a critical role to play in the 
promotion of the development of the library and 
information services in South Africa. In order to achieve 

PART B: PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 
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it’s objectives and perform its functions, the National 
Library must:
• provide appropriate information products and 

services;
• provide leadership, guidance and advice to South 

African library and information services;
• present, in consultation with other library and 

information services, any relevant issues regarding 
the sector;

• undertake planning and co-ordination in co-
operation with other library and information 
services;

• undertake research and development for 
improvement of library and information services;

• establish and maintain beneficial partnerships 
with local, national and international organisations 
including library and information services for 
national access to information world-wide; 

• encourage local and international tours of the 
National Library of South Africa on both Campuses, 
including Centre for the Book and ensure training 
of new library and information professionals in 
partnership with universities by offering a platform 
for experiential learning and internships;

• liaise with libraries and other institutions within and 
outside of South Africa. 

The NLSA operates on three sites that complement 
each other. The main site is the Pretoria Campus, 
which is the largest campus and also functions as the 
NLSA Head-office. The Cape Town Campus houses 
the special and rare heritage collections and functions 
as a research hub, which is used daily by scholars, 
researchers and the general public. Both sites offer 
free internet access as well as a wealth of online global 
information. NLSA is visited by about 2000 clients daily. 
The third site is the Centre for the book, which also 
functions as an NLSA outreach unit for the promotion 
of reading, writing and publishing in South Africa. 

The activities of NLSA on the three sites contribute 
towards the achievement of the overall NLSA services 
as follows:

Pretoria Campus:
• Reference and Information services  
• Legal Deposit 

• Document Supply    
• Information Communication and Technology
• Bibliographic Services    

Training
• Collection Management    

Preservation
• De-acidification     

Digitisation
• International Standard Number Agency  

Foreign Official Publications
• Map collection

Cape Town Campus
• Reference and Information Services  

Training 
• Digitisation     
• Research 
• Document Supply    

Conservation and Preservation
• Special and Rare collections   
• Legal Deposit
• Collections Management

Centre for the Book
• Outreach unit to general public  
• Promotion of reading, writing, publishing and easy 

access to books 
• Training of writers and publishers        
• Identify and develop young writers

2.2 Organisational environment 
The NLSA consists of two campuses, namely Pretoria 
and Cape Town.

The NLSA’s service delivery platform is structured 
around core and support services. Within the institution 
there are four areas delivering on the core business 
functions, as stipulated in the National Library of South 
Africa Act, section 4 (1).

In summary these are:

• Bibliographic Services and Collection Management 
Function: Co-ordinating all activities connected 
with purchasing and collecting of published 
information; rendering a national bibliographic 
service; cataloguing the records and ensuring 
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adherence to international standards by promoting 
universal bibliographic control through the national 
bibliographic agency.

• Information Access Services: Promoting optimal 
access to the collections of the NLSA both 
nationally and internationally.

• Preservation Services Function: Enabling the 
NLSA to operate as the national conservation 
and preservation library. The de-acidification plant 
of the NLSA is the first in Africa and enables the 
library to treat printed documents.

• The Centre for the Book Function: Promotes the 
culture of reading, writing and publishing. 

The service delivery platform further provides for 
five support service structures as strategic partners 
to the core business functions. The support service 
departments are:
• The Office of the CEO, which provides dynamic 

leadership to all core and support services and 
equally engages with the Board of the NLSA 
as well as relevant organisations nationally and 
internationally.

• Information Communication and Technology (ICT), 
which manages support and enhance the services 
and infrastructure of the NLSA and its affiliates in 
order to improve and promote access to resources 
through provision of innovative technology.

• Finance and Supply Chain Management, which 
ensures sound financial management and full 
compliance with relevant legislation and/or 
regulations and sound budgeting to enable the 
institution to deliver on its mandate.

• Human Resources, which is set out to recruit and 
retain the services of suitably qualified individuals 
who will add value and embrace the shared and 
unified values of the NLSA.  

• Corporate and International Relations, which 
ensures that the NLSA achieves visibility and 
impact by creating awareness of the services and 
products of the NLSA, whilst building collaborations 
on both the national and the international front. 

The NLSA finds it difficult to fulfil its mandate due 
to inadequate funding by DAC. Presently NLSA is 
maintaining the status quo in an environment that is 
dynamic and technologically driven.

2.3 Description of the NLSA’s strategic  
  planning process
The strategic planning process within the NLSA occurs 
in a structured and consultative manner in accordance 
with the timelines prescribed by the Public Finance 
Management Act. The process can be summarised as 
follows:

•  A Special Management Team Meeting is convened 
in July every year for the purpose of discussing 
the Strategic Plan. A SWOT analysis of NLSA is 
done in order to scan the environment in which 
the library operates. Each programme provides a 
list of pre-determined objectives. These objectives 
are comprehensively discussed and analysed to 
ensure that they are SMART and contribute to the 
overall objectives of the NLSA, as outlined in the 
NLSA Act. It is attended by Senior Management, 
Executive Librarians and Executive Heads of the 
support divisions, as well as Project Leaders who 
are supervisors in various units on both campuses, 
scheduled to discuss the strategic direction of the 
NLSA. Input from the Management Team Meeting 
is incorporated into the pre-determined format 
for the NLSA’s strategic plan. The first draft of the 
Strategic Plan is submitted to DAC on 30 August 
each year.

• Another Special Management Meeting is 
convened in October to re-visit the first draft and 
to finalise the strategic direction of the NLSA and 
the resource allocation specified in the budget. 
Input from the Management Team Meeting is 
incorporated into the pre-determined format for 
the NLSA’s strategic plan. The second draft of the 
Strategic Plan is submitted to the Management 
Team for their approval before submission to DAC 
on 30 November each year.

• Feedback from Senior Management is 
incorporated into the pre-determined format for 
the third draft of the NLSA’s strategic plan during 
November and December each year.

•  The final Draft Strategic Plan is submitted to 
the Management Team for their approval before 
submission to the NLSA Board for approval in 
January. Once approved, the Strategic Plan is 
submitted to DAC and National Treasury on 31 
January each year.
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2.4 Strategic outcome orientated   
  goals of the NLSA
The NLSA contributes to all the twelve national goals.  
In order for each goal to be achieved, access to 
information is imperative.  Of the twelve national goals, 
DAC also selected five which the NLSA contributes to, 
as follows: 

Goal 1: Improved quality of Basic Education. NLSA 
provides information to support teaching, learning and 
research through its library and information services 
and products.

Goal 4: Decent Employment through inclusive 
economic growth. NLSA is an employer and thus 
contributes to providing decent employment to 
individuals as well as companies providing different 
services outsourced to them.

Goal 5:  A skilled and capable workforce providing 
an inclusive growth path. NLSA employs over two 
hundred employees. They are continuously trained in 
order to ensure a skilled and capable workforce, whose 
efficient and effective National Library and information 
service empowers South Africa and its citizens.

Goal 12b: Empowered, fair and inclusive library-
users. NLSA   contributes to empowering the citizens 
through access to information offered through its 
library and information services. The free internet 
access offered to the general public assists in bridging 
the digital divide.

Goal 7: Vibrant, equitable and sustainable rural 
communities. NLSA through its Centre for the 
book reaches out to rural communities to assist 
with establishing book-clubs, donating books and 
promoting a culture of reading and writing.  

The mandate of the NLSA is to contribute to socio-
economic, cultural, educational, scientific and innovative 
development. This is achieved by collecting, recording, 
preserving and making available the national 
documentary heritage and promoting an awareness 
and appreciation thereof, by fostering information 
literacy, and by facilitating access to the world’s 
information resources. The NLSA has accordingly set 

itself the following strategic outcomes to enable it to 
fulfil its mandate. 
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Strategic Outcome 
Oriented Goal 1

Collaborate and cooperate with other libraries and organisations

Goal statement Play a leading role in LIS
Strategic Outcome 
Oriented Goal 2

Build a complete collection of published and unpublished documents emanating 
from or relating to South Africa and rendering  bibliographic services.

Goal statement Collect, record, preserve and promote optimal access to the national documentary 
heritage, both nationally and internationally.

Strategic Outcome 
Oriented Goal 3

Facilitate optimal access to published documents nationally and internationally.

Goal statement Promote access to information.
Strategic Outcome 
Oriented Goal 4

Preservation of South African published heritage.

Goal statement Preserve and maintain the collections of the NLSA.

Strategic Outcome 
Oriented Goal 5

Create awareness and appreciation of documentary heritage of South Africa.

Goal statement Promote a culture of reading, writing and publishing in South Africa.

Strategic Outcome 
Oriented Goal 6

Attract and retain the services of suitably qualified individuals.

Goal statement Provide service excellence to core and support functions.

Strategic Outcome 
Oriented Goal 7

Promote NLSA as a custodian of the national documentary heritage.

Goal statement Ensure visibility of NLSA.

Strategic Outcome 
Oriented Goal 8

Manage, Support and Enhance the Information And Communication Technology  
services and infrastructure of the National Library of South Africa and its affiliates.

Goal statement Information and Communication Technology to drive the NLSA core and support 
functions technologically.

Strategic Outcome 
Oriented Goal 9

Ensure sound financial management and compliance with legislation requirements.

Goal statement Full compliance with legislative requirements.
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The NLSA continued to function as a national resource 
and a custodian of South Africa’s documentary 
heritage.  As a national resource, the NLSA is well 
positioned to ensure that its rich historical and rare 
collections are accessible to all users, thus contributing 
towards building an informed nation.  

The functions of the National Library are to provide 
leadership, guidance and advice to South African 
libraries and information services; to act as the national 
preservation library, render a national bibliographic 
service, provide reference and information services 
nationally and internationally, promote information 
awareness and information literacy.

In order to meet our legislative mandate, the following 
core programmes have been designed in terms of the 
National Library of South Africa Act.: 

Bibliographic Services and Collections 
Management
The National Library of South Africa is one of five 
legal deposit libraries, deriving its status from the 
Legal Deposit Act 54 of 1997, and through which it 
is mandated to “provide for the preservation of the 
national documentary heritage through legal deposit of 
published documents; to ensure the preservation and 
cataloguing of, and access to, published documents 
emanating from, or adapted for, South Africa”.

In achieving this mandate, and thereby serving the 
citizenry of South Africa, the Programme Bibliographic 
Services and Collection Management received 10 
496 new monographs, 21 682 new serial issues and 
33 new serial titles on legal deposit. To supplement 
the legal deposit collection, an additional 2 461 items 
published abroad, relating to South Africa or written by 
South African authors, were purchased and added to 
our collection.

To provide access to our collections both nationally 
and internationally, an additional 24 137 bibliographic 
records were added to our OPAC and the OCLC 

Worldcat database and we ensured that access was 
optimised via the maintenance of the South African 
name authority file, adding an additional 1 890 new 
names to our local and Library of Congress name 
authority files, and a total of 1 357 series and uniform 
titles. 

Further facilitating access to the legal deposit collection, 
ISAP (Index to South African Periodicals) added an 
additional 9025 records to the ISAP database, thereby 
ensuring that locally published scientific research is 
available to both national and international patrons.

The ISN (International Standard Number) agency 
based at the Pretoria campus of the National Library 
continues to assist both self-publishing authors and 
large commercial publishers via the allocation of ISBN, 
ISMN and facilitating the allocation of ISSN to all new 
publications.

As the recipient of a DAC (Department of Arts and 
Culture) conditional grant promoting the implementation 
of RDA (Resource Description Access), a new 
cataloguing standard has been instituted to replace 
the current AACR2. In line with the leading role of the 
National Library, the programme has been responsible 
for constituting the RDA-SA Steering Committee, the 
creation of a national RDA website and the promotion 
of RDA at national events such as the LIASA annual 
conference. National training in the standard is planned 
for the forthcoming year.

Information Access Services Programme- 
Cape Town
Grap103 – Short records for the Grey and Fairbridge 
Collections have been completed. The entire Grey 
Collection was physically checked and items requiring 
short catalogued records were identified. This process
has proven to be more valuable because it brought to
light hitherto unknown and unique material. An example 
of this was an original letter from King Moshoeshoe 
to the Governor dated 15 October 1838. Letters and 
maps from David Livingston were also discovered. 

Another manuscript uncovered in the Grey Collection is 
one written by a missionary and titled “Isibongo si ka_
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Kaka (Praises to King Shaka) The National Library staff 
assisted the Library of Parliament with the exhibition of 
the commemoration of the 1913 Land Act.

The National Library of South Africa, in partnership 
with the Cape Town Photographic Society, held an 
exhibition titled “Lens and Shutters”. The National 
Library of South Africa (Cape Town campus) and the 
Cape Town Photographic Society (CTPS), both have a
long history. The NLSA was established in 1818 and 
the CTPS in 1890. These two organisations combined 
to host a collaborative exhibition which opened on 
5 November 2013 at the NLSA (Cape Town). The 
exhibition touched on the history of and introduction 
to photography in South Africa, with an emphasis on 
the City of Cape Town. The photographs date from 
1853 onwards.

The National Library is fortunate to have a significant 
number of unique historical images in their collection, 
which are widely used by researchers both nationally 
and internationally. The Library displayed examples of 
the various photographic processes that were available, 
including examples of photographic negatives, 
glassplates, daguerrotypes and stereographs. These 
photographs were hung around the exhibition gallery 
walls. Also displayed at the exhibition were examples 
of early photographic equipment on loan from the 
Cape Town Photographic Society.

A selection of books on the history of photography, 
catalogues and very rare Africana “Views of Cape 
Town” were also put out on display. The Library’s 
Sir John Herschel Collection was also touched on. 
Herschel travelled to South Africa in order to catalogue 
the stars and other objects of the southern skies. He 
arrived in Cape Town in January 1834 and set up a 
private telescope in Wynberg. Sir John Herschel was 
instrumental to the development of photographic 
processes, most notably inventing the cyanotype 
process, the precursor to the modern blueprint 
process. Sir John Hershel was also responsible 
for applying the terms ‘negative’ and ‘positive’ to 
photography.

Prior to the exhibition opening the National Library 
and the Cape Town Photographic Society (CTPS) 

embarked on the “Bridging the time divide: Capturing 
Cape Town Central as it is today” project. Selected 
photographs from this project were exhibited, so 
visitors to the exhibition were able to see the “old” and
“new” city.

The exhibition was well attended, with hundreds of 
positive messages written in the Visitors Book. There 
have been some spin-offs from the exhibition, including
a collaborative book with Don Nelson Publishers.

With the publicity about the exhibition in newspapers 
there has been an increase in the number of people 
enquiring about the photographic collections of the 
National Library. 

We featured a memorial exhibition on the life of “Nelson 
Mandela”. The exhibition featured books, photographs 
and news articles depicting the late Nelson Mandela.

Preservation and Conservation Services 
Preservation Services is responsible for the optimal 
maintenance of the Library’s collections. Their functions
include storage and accommodation provisions, 
maintenance and conservation treatment of library 
materials and special projects to promote and develop
preservation skills. Preservation Services managed to 
reach all their targets for the 2013/14 financial year.

The Cape Town campus reached their maximum 
capacity of storage space for their collections. 
Presently collections at Cape Town campus are 
accommodated in four locations scattered over the 
city. This situation creates a burden on services and 
security with potential damage caused to collections 
during transport of requested items to the reading 
rooms. In co-operation with the Department of Arts 
and Culture and the Department of Public Works, 
solutions for a central storage facility for collections 
were considered.

The NLSA acted as the regional centre for IFLA 
PAC (Preservation and Conservation Core Activity) 
Southern Africa. Preservation Services assisted with 
the publishing of a directory of National Libraries in 
Africa (NATLIB Africa Project). Other contacts with 
African libraries were established through participation
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in the African Library Summit that was held in Pretoria
in July 2013. Preparations for hosting sessions at the 
IFLA World Library and Information Congress in Cape 
Town in 2015 got well under way.

The NLSA conducted preservation training and 
workshops in co-operation with the Provincial Library 
Services and the Africana Library Trust in Kimberley. 
Workshops were presented by NLSA staff with the 
assistance of external professionals and trainers. 
Training covered topics ranging from book-binding and
basic book repairs to disaster planning and pest 
management. Participants learnt how to deal with wet 
books in case of flooding disasters. During practical 
sessions wind-tunnels were built for air-drying damp 
books, interleaving of wet books and the preparation 
of soaked books for dry-freezing. Examples of library 
disaster plans were discussed as well as measures to 
prevent library disasters.

Fundraising initiatives resulted in an opportunity to de-
acidificy the collections held in the custody of the Nelson 
Mandela Foundation. The significant part that acidity 
plays in the rapid deterioration of paper has long been 
recognized. The Bookkeeper mass de-acidification 
system allows for the dipping and spraying of acidic 
books with a de-acidification solution followed by high
pressure drying.

Good progress was made with the Black Press 
digitisation project: various local historical newspapers 
were scanned. Scanning to digital format will improve 
access and prevent further degrading of the original 
paper copies. Images from NLSA collections were 
selected for inclusion in the World Digital Library.  
 
Serious challenges were experienced with running 
services with dated equipment due to lack of budget 
to replace older equipment and tools.

Centre for the Book
The World Book Day Celebrations were held on 
22 - 23 April 2013 in the North West Province. The 
celebrations started off with a Door-to-Door Reading 
Campaign on Monday, 22nd of April in Ratlou 
Municipality in Madibogo. On the second day (23 April 
2013) the official national celebration took place in 

Tswaing Municipality in Delareyville, also in North West. 
About 3000 adults and children attended the event at 
the Delareyville Stadium.

The 2013, 4th Funda Mzantsi Championship (Book 
Clubs National Competition) was held in George 
on 23-24 September 2013 in partnership with the 
Department of Correctional Services. 25 Book 
Clubs from high schools and Correctional Centres 
participated. The Championship has grown from a 
one day to a two days event and it attracted more 
than 500 spectators both young and old. Participants 
competed for medals and trophies in 3 languages; 
English, IsiXhosa, and Afrikaans and in 3 categories; 
reading, reviewing and debating. 

The first Cape Town Storytelling Marathon was 
launched at the CFB on the 14 February 2014, while 
the actual 8 hours non-stop storytelling took place 
on the 15 February 2014 from 10:00 to 18:00. The 
Storytelling Marathon was funded by European 
Union. A total of 30 storytellers told stories in English, 
Afrikaans, IsiXhosa, Khoisan languages and Spanish. 
A variety of cultures and storytelling traditions were 
presented in the spoken word and also in song and 
dance. More than 300 individuals including adults, 
children and learners from various local schools 
attended and marveled the marathon.

Books were donated to schools, Correctional Centres, 
libraries and communities all over SA, amongst others: 
Correctional Centres: George, Pollsmoor, Eastern 
Cape DCS, St Albens, Kirkwood, Mdantsane, Medium 
C Female East London, Outshoorn High Schools: 
Hector Petersen, Sophumelela, Khulani; Dr N R 
Mandela.

Primary Schools: Ukhanyo, Abedare, Rosendal, 
Parkdene, Phalwe
Libraries: Uthondo

Organizations: Murongwe; Zingela Ulwazi; We Matter; 
DAC

Posters were printed and distributed to libraries 
and schools for the following events: World Book 
Day; International Literacy Day and 1st Cape Town 
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Storytelling marathon.

Book Clubs were established in areas such as Mossel 
Bay; Mount Ayliff; Khayelitsha; Bongolethu Primary 
School; Grace Reading Club (Entshona Primary 
School); Township fundis Reading Club (Entshona 
Primary School); Izangxa Zesixhosa (Eikendal Library); 
Adult Reading Club (Eikendal Library) Workshops 
included: Illustrators & writers workshop - Cape Town 
(26-29/6/13); Book Development stages - Eden Grove 
(2/7/13); Short story writing - Soweto (23-24/8/13); 
Funda Mzantsi Creative Writing - Cape Town (27/7/13); 
Eziko/Indigenous Writers’ Institute Workshop – 
Mthatha (16-17/2/14);  Book club establishment  & 
creative writing - Pretoria (27-28/2/14); Basic Library 
Skills Workshop – Pretoria (17-19/3/14)training. Basic 
Library Skills Workshop (18-20/11); Basic Library Skills 
Workshop (25-27/11).

The volume of people attending workshops and 
training has definitely increased. Aspirant authors, 
staff from Correctional Services Centres, teachers, 
volunteer librarians and interested parties attended the 
workshops listed above.

An unprecedented number of good quality manuscripts
were submitted, which were suitable for publication.

The following new authors, from all over South Africa, 
received grants to publish their books:

Pitso Moletsane for Sesotho children’s story, Bana Le 
Dithothokiso.

Jacqueline Opperman for English children’s story, The 
Jenga Day.

Nompumezo Buzani for the IsiXhosa drama, Imida.

Samuel Mphuthi for English short stories, Election 
Day.

Mfana Skhosana for the IsiNdebele drama, Kuphelile.

Mgwebi Snail for English poetry, Window seat 

Michelle Searle for an English children’s story, Shimmer 
Time.

Samukelo Ntombela for IsiZulu poetry, Impukane.

Eefka Young for an English children’s story, The Cat 
Who Sees It All.

Nomthandazo Dyamdeki for IsiXhosa short stories, 
Ukuhamba Kukubona.

Zach Heyns, a 9 year old boy, for English children’s 
story, Animal Antics.

Virgil Johnson for Afrikaans poetry, Veraad Sonder 
Rigting.

Nwabisa Kope for an IsiXhosa children’s story, Ibali 
likaVeli noMveli.

Elizabeth Masombuka for isiNdebele poetry, Inkwana 
Yomthubi.

Information and Communications 
Technology for public libraries
The National Library of South Africa (NLSA) has installed 
WIFI access points in its Cape Town campus and 
Centre for the Book venues. Furthermore, the NLSA 
has expanded this service to the Reference section at 
the Pretoria campus. With the increasing saturation of 
mobile devices this is particularly important because 
users can access the internet using a variety of 
devices at all three NLSA venues. The Information and 
Communication Technology department continues to 
implement cutting-edge technology that allows the 
NLSA to be a world class facility and most importantly 
enables NLSA to achieve its mandate.

The NLSA continues to assist the Department of Arts
and Culture (DAC) in their mission to connect South 
African public libraries. Thus far more than 500 public 
libraries in five provinces have been provided with 
Internet access. The NLSA through DAC has partnered 
with State Information Technology Agency (SITA) to 
implement an Integrated Library Management system 
throughout South African public libraries.
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Corporate and International Relations
The Department of Corporate Communication has
enhanced the visibility of the NLSA and facilitated 
improved stakeholder relations through participation 
in the various Library and Information Services LIS 
events, media coverage, production of corporate 
publications and building relations with the strategic 
partners.

The NLSA occupies a strategic space in the Library
and Information Services (LIS) Sector both Nationally 
and Internationally. In the quest to maintain its visibility
and ensure active stakeholder engagement, the 
NLSA has participated in the following LIS and literary 
activities: UNESCO World Book Day, South African 
Library Week, African Library Summit, Mandela Day 
activities, Jozi Book Fair, a Photographic Exhibition 
at the NLSA Cape Town Campus, LIASA Conference 
and the launch of the Bill Gates and Melinda Gates 
Foundation Public Libraries Project. These events 
attracted media coverage and were well attended by 
NLSA stakeholders.

CIR also participated in the collaborative events with 
strategic partners (The Write associates, DAC and 
Foreign Embassies) namely: Chinua Achebe Memorial 
Lecture, Professor Mzamane memorial service, 
Professor Keorapetse Kgositsile Inaugural Lecture by 
Dr Z. Pallo Jordan, Signing of MoU’s, Book donations, 
Film screening and Showcase of International Cultural 
Glimpse with Embassies.

The visibility of the NLSA was further enhanced with 
the participation of the Executive Head: Corporate and 
International Relations in the Kwa Zulu Natal (KZN) 
Department of Arts and Culture Conference making 
a presentation on the role of the National Library of 
South Africa. He also presented at the Bill and Melinda 
Gates Global Libraries Stakeholder meeting in Maung, 
Botswana. CIR also organised a very successful 
Marketing Forum for Library marketing officials in all 
Provinces. 

The Executive Head continues to co-ordinate the 
Marketing Forum for Libraries and he was a founding 
member of the LIASA Marketing and Advocacy Interest
Group. He facilitated the Marketing and Advocacy 

Interest Group Workshop with the theme: “Assistive 
Technology: respond to your library status” at LIASA 
Conference 2013.
 
The National Library of South Africa (Cape Town 
campus) was selected as one of the eleven most 
excellent libraries in Africa. Visit www.mentalfloss.com.

The National Library of South Africa (Pretoria campus)
was selected as the place of attraction in Pretoria. Visit
www.gauteng.net.

We have assisted the Office of the CEO and National
Librarian with the launch of the African Libraries 
Association (AfLIA) and the Conference of African 
National Libraries (CANL) at the African Library 
Summit. We have in addition developed and launched 
the Directory of the African National Libraries at the 
African Library Summit. These projects were delegated 
by the International Federation of Library Associations 
and Institutions (IFLA) to the NLSA.
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3. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY PROGRAMME

3.1 PERFORMANCE INFORMATION: Office of the National Librarian
The purpose of this programme is to ensure that the NLSA plays a leading role in the Library and Information 
Services (LIS) sector, complies with the NLSA Act by adhering to its objects and functions and ensures good 
governance.

Programme/activity/objective: 

Strategic objectives Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned 
Target

2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on 
deviations

Build and maintain national 
and international partnerships 
through Memoranda of 
Understanding/agreement

6 4 4 0 Not Applicable

Build and maintain  
partnerships: Number of 
national committees NLSA 
serves on

7 5 5 0 Not Applicable

Build and maintain 
partnerships: Number of 
International Committees NLSA 
serves on

3 3 4 0 Not Applicable

Offer leadership in the 
promotion and development of 
library and Information Services 
(LIS) in South Africa

Manage Conditional Grant 
Projects, number of quarterly 
progress reports submitted to 
DAC

4 4 4 0 Not Applicable

Ensure compliance with 
legislative requirements and 
good corporate governance

Number of Statutory / Board 
meetings held

5 4 6 2 2013/14 Annual target 
exceeded due to special 
Board Meetings held

Ensure compliance with 
legislative requirements and 
good corporate governance

Quarterly reports submitted to 
DAC (Strategic Plan and Annual 
Performance Plan

4 4 4 0 Not Applicable

Ensure compliance with 
legislative requirements and 
good corporate governance

Quarterly Management 
meetings held

4 4 4 0 Not Applicable
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Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements
Programme/activity/objective: 

Performance Indicator Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned 
Target

2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual Achievement 
for 2013/2014

Comment on 
deviations

Build and maintain national 
and International partnerships 
through Memoranda of 
Understanding/agreement

6 4 4 0 Not Applicable

Build and maintain  
partnerships: Number of 
national committees NLSA 
serves on

7 5 5 0 Not Applicable

Build and maintain 
partnerships: Number of 
international Committees NLSA 
serves on

3 4 4 0 Not Applicable

Offer leadership in the 
promotion and development of 
library and Information Services 
(LIS) in South Africa

Manage Conditional Grant 
Projects, number of quarterly 
progress reports submitted to 
DAC

4 4 4 0 Not Applicable

Ensure compliance with 
legislative requirements and 
good corporate governance

Number of Statutory / Board 
meetings held

5 4 6 2 2013/14 Annual 
target exceeded due 
to special Board 
Meetings held.

Ensure compliance with 
legislative requirements and 
good corporate governance

Quarterly reports submitted to 
DAC (Strategic Plan and Annual 
Performance Plan

4 4 4 0 Not Applicable

Ensure compliance with 
legislative requirements and 
good corporate governance

Quarterly Management 
meetings held

4 4 4 0 Not Applicable
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3.2  Programme: Collection Management and Bibliographic Services
The purpose of this programme is to build a comprehensive collection of material published in, or about 
South Africa and southern Africa, and to provide quality bibliographic records according to international 
standards

Strategic objectives

Programme/activity/objective:

Strategic 
objectives

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on deviations

Build a complete 
collection of 
documents 
published in South 
Africa

10 965 10 500 10 496 Deviation of 4 
items from planned 

target

Fewer items were 
published / deposited

To create 
awareness of the 
Legal Deposit Act

3 2 3 Deviation of 1 
workshop from 
planned target

An additional workshop 
was held to promote 

legal deposit

To extend and 
supplement the 
NLSA collections 
by purchasing 
material

- 100% 100% Achieved Not applicable

Creation of 
bibliographic 
records for legal 
deposit and 
acquired material

8126 19 500 24 137 Deviation of
 4 637 bibliographic 

records from 
planned target

 Cataloguers worked 
throughout the year on 

the reprint project

Creation of South 
African series and 
name authority files

- 2 000 3 250 Deviation of
 1 250 authority 

records from 
planned target

 The creation of RDA 
compliant names and 
uniform titles resulted 
in an increase in the 
creation of authority 

records

Facilitate 
awareness of 
relevant library 
standards

8 6 6 Achieved Not applicable
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Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Programme/activity/objective:

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on deviations

Number of 
monographs 
received on legal 
deposit

10 965 10 500 10 496 4 Target not achieved. 
Fewer items were 

published/deposited

Number of legal 
deposit workshops 
held

3 2 3 1 An additional workshop 
was held to promote 

legal deposit.  
Target exceeded

Commit 100% of 
the allocated book 
budget for the 
financial year

- 100% 100% Target achieved Not applicable

Number of items 
catalogued

8126 19 500 24 137  4 637 Cataloguers worked on 
the reprint project

throughout the year. 
Target exceeded

Number of 
authority records 
created

- 2 000 3250  1 250  The creation of RDA 
compliant names and 
uniform titles resulted 
in an increase in the 
creation of authority 

records.  
Target exceeded

Number of training 
sessions provided

8 6 6 Target achieved Not applicable

Performance for programmes/activities/objectives has contributed to the achievement of the public 
entity’s strategic outcomes orientated goals in the following manner:

In achieving its mandate, and thereby serving the citizenry of South Africa, the Programme Bibliographic Services
and Collection Management received 10 496 new monographs, 21 682 new serial issues and 33 new serial titles
on legal deposit. To supplement the legal deposit collection, an additional 2 461 items published abroad that 
related to South Africa or was written by South African authors, were purchased and added to our collection.

To provide access to our collections both nationally and internationally, an additional 24 137 bibliographic records
were added to our OPAC and the OCLC Worldcat database.  We also ensured that access was optimised via the
maintenance of the South African name authority file, adding an additional 1 890 new names to our local and 
Library of Congress name authority files and a total of 1 357 series and uniform titles.
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3.3 Programme: Information access services

Programme/activity/objective:

Strategic 
objectives

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on deviations

Ensure optimal 
access to 
information by 
public

- 56539 65137 8598 Target exceeded. More 
users used the internet 
for study and work 
purposes

Increase the 
number of clients 
visiting the library

- 264500 361398 96898 Target exceeded. Far 
more users used the 
library in the fourth 
quarter

Measurement of 
client satisfaction

- 1 1 - Target achieved

Provision of 
national inter-
lending service

1683 1280 1830 550 Target exceeded. More 
local libraries requested 
information from NLSA 
Collections

Provision of an 
international 
interlibrary loan 
service

120 200 99 101 Target not achieved. 
More libraries are making 
direct requests through 
other ILL platforms and 
not using the NLSA

Provision of 
training on best 
practice in inter-
lending

3 4 4 - Target achieved
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Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements
Programme/activity/objective:

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on deviations

Number of clients 
using internet 
facilities

- 56539 65137 8598 Target exceeded.  More 
users used the internet 
for study and work 
purposes

Number of clients 
visiting the library

- 264500 361398 96898 Target exceeded. More 
users used the library 
for study and work 
purposes. During South 
African Library week we 
had more visitors

An annual user-
satisfaction survey 
was conducted

- 1 1 - Target achieved

Number of national 
requests received

1683 1280 1830 550 Target exceeded. More 
local libraries requested 
information from NLSA 
collection

Number of 
international 
requests received 
from local libraries

120 200 99 101 Target not achieved. 
More academic libraries 
are making direct 
requests through other 
ILL platforms and not 
using NLSA

Number of 
requests received 
from international 
borrowers

210 160 283 123 Target exceeded. More 
libraries requested our 
material than had been 
anticipated

Number of training 
circulars distributed 
to libraries

3 4 4 - Target achieved
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3.4 PERFORMANCE INFORMATION: Programme – Preservation Services

The purpose of Preservation Services is to preserve and maintain the library’s collections with the purpose 
of securing current and long-term survival and accessibility of the physical form and informational content of 
collection items.

Strategic Outcome Orientated Goal 4: Preservation of South African published heritage.
Programme/activity/objective:

Strategic 
objectives

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on deviations

Applying 
techniques and 
methods to 
preserve library 
collections

25,313 27,200 30,205 3,005 Target exceeded. More  
demand for preventive 
preservation and conservation 
treatment of collections

Promoting and 
developing 
preservation skills

New-target 7 9 2 Target exceeded. More 
workshops were conducted 
due to increased demand for 
preservation training

Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Programme/activity/objective:

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on deviations

Number of 
damaged books 
repaired/restored

969 900 906 6 Target exceeded. More books 
received for repairs

Number of pages / 
images digitised

14,334 15,000 17,520 2,520 Target exceeded. Progress 
on Black Press newspaper 
digitisation project

Number of items 
de-acidified

10,010 10,000 10,400 400 Target exceeded. More items 
received for de-acidification

Number 
of volumes 
bound

- 1,300 1,379 79 Target exceeded. More 
volumes received for binding

Number of 
workshops/training 
sessions held

- 7 9 2 Target exceeded. More 
workshops were conducted 
due to increased demand for 
preservation training
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3.5 PERFORMANCE INFORMATION: Programme - Centre for the Book

Programme/activity/objective: CENTRE FOR THE BOOK

The purpose of this programme is to promote a culture of reading, writing and publishing and promote easy 
access to books for all.

Strategic objectives, performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Programme/activity/objective: 

Strategic 
objectives

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual Achievement
2013/2014

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual Achievement 
for 2013/2014

Comment on 
deviations

To promote a 
culture of reading 
in South African 
languages

29 587 27 620 57 207 29 587 Not Applicable

Promote a culture 
of writing in South 
Africa

79 312 391 79 Not applicable

Promotion and 
development 
of a culture of 
publishing in 
South Africa

7 8 15 7 Not applicable

Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Programme/activity/objective: Centre for the Book

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on 
deviations

Number of events 
organised

10 10 0 Not applicable

Number of books 
donated

7600 14 926 7 326 Received more books 
to donate from the 
publishers

Number of posters 
donated

20 000 42 250 22 250 Printed more posters 
due to high demand 
from libraries

Number of book clubs 
established

10 21 11 Great interest in 
forming book clubs 
especially amongst 
Correctional services

Number of workshop 
and training sessions 
held

12 14 2 Great demand for 
training from various 
youth formations

Number of attendees 300 381 81 More people attended 
our workshops due 
to good publicity and 
interest

Number of grants 
allocated

8 15 7 Received good quality 
manuscripts.
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3.6 PERFORMANCE INFORMATION: Human Resource 
• The purpose of the programme is to provide human resources service excellence to all core and support 

functions by attracting and retaining suitably qualified individuals who will add value to the institution.  

Strategic objectives, performance indicators planned targets and actual achievements

Strategic 
objectives

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on deviations

Performance 
Management 

- 2 2 0 Not Applicable

Induction and 
Orientation 
Programme 

- 4 4 0 Not Applicable

Succession 
Planning 

2 2 2 0 Not Applicable

Employment 
Relations 

- 4 4 0 Not Applicable

Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Programme/activity/objective:
Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on deviations

Bi-annual 
performance 
evaluations 

- 2 2 0 Not Applicable

Bi-annual 
progress reports 
on succession 
planning

- 2 2 0 Not Applicable

Bi-annual 
succession 
planning meetings

2 2 2 0 Not Applicable

Number of 
Induction and 
orientation 
sessions

- 4 4 0 Not Applicable

Number of Labour 
management 
consultative 
meetings

- 4 4 0 Not Applicable
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3.7 PERFORMANCE INFORMATION:  
  Department - Corporate and International Relations

Strategic objectives, performance indicators planned targets and actual achievements

Strategic objectives
CIR ensures that the NLSA is visible through promotion and creating awareness of its services and products while 
at the same time building and maintaining partnerships for collaboration both national and internationally.

Programme/activity/objective:

Strategic objectives Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on deviations

Ensure the visibility 
of the NLSA 
nationally and 
Internationally 
through Exhibitions

4 4 7 3 Target exceeded due to 
extra invitations received 
from the external 
stakeholders

Tours of the NLSA - 16 17 1 Target exceeded due 
to the increase of 
stakeholders visiting the 
NLSA

Plan and organise 
NLSA events

10 12 18 6 Target exceeded due to 
the demand for more 
events

4. Ensure media 
coverage to promote 
the NLSA

78 16 73 57 Target exceeded due to 
increased media interest 
in the events organised

Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements.

Programme/activity/objective:

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on deviations

Ensure the visibility 
of the NLSA 
nationally and 
Internationally 
through Exhibitions

4 4 7 3 Target exceeded due to 
extra invitations received 
from the external 
stakeholders

Tours of the NLSA - 16 17 1 Target exceeded due 
to the increase of 
stakeholders visiting the 
NLSA

Plan and organise 
NLSA events

10 12 18 6 Target exceeded due to 
the demand for more 
events

Ensure media 
coverage to promote 
the NLSA

78 16 73 57 Target exceeded due to 
increased media interest 
in the events organised

Fundraising for 
special projects of 
the NLSA.

7 2 2 - Target achieved

Strategy to overcome areas of under performance
There is no under-performance in the CIR programme. 
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3.8  PERFORMANCE INFORMATION: Information and Communication Technology

Strategic objectives, performance indicators planned targets and actual achievements

The purpose of this programme is to manage, support and enhance ICT services and infrastructure of the NLSA.

Programme/activity/objective: 

Strategic 
objectives

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual Achievement
2013/2014

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual Achievement 
for 2013/2014

Comment on 
deviations

Develop and 
maintain ICT 
infrastructure to 
support NLSA 
programmes.

2mb 4mb 4mb Achieved Not Applicable

New 1 Server 1 Server Achieved Not Applicable

New 2 Web-services 2 Web-services Achieved Not Applicable

New 100mb 100mb Achieved Not Applicable

Develop ICT skills 
of NLSA staff

12 12 13 Exceeded The number of 
trainings was 
exceeded because 
the ICT environment 
was upgraded. This 
necessitated an 
additional training 
session to re-skill 
staff for the new 
working environment

Preparation of a 
disaster recovery  
site

1 1 1 Achieved Not applicable

Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Programme/activity/objective: Information and Communication Technology

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 

2012/2013

Planned Target
2013/2014

Actual 
Achievement

2013/2014

Deviation 
from planned 

target to Actual 
Achievement for 

2013/2014

Comment on deviations

Increase bandwidth 
capacity by 4mb

2mb 4mb 4mb achieved Not applicable

Acquisition of 
additional server

New 1 1 achieved Not applicable

Increase inter-campus 
network capacity

New 100mbps 100mbps achieved Not applicable

Number of web-based 
services developed

1 2 2 achieved Not applicable

Number of ICT 
training sessions

12 12 13 Exceeded Upgrading of ICT 
environment necessitated 
an additional training 
session

Hardware 
infrastructure for 
disaster recovery

New 1 1 achieved Not applicable
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4.  REVENUE COLLECTION 

2013/14 2012/13

Programme Budget R'000
Actual 
Expenditure 
R'000

(Over)/ under 
expenditure 
R'000

Budget 
R'000

Actual 
Expenditure 
R'000

(Over)/ under 
expenditure 
R'000

Administration  40,740.17  45,319.94 -4,579.77  39,000.82  43,576.31 -4,575.49 

Business development  20,146.52  22,411.27 -2,264.75  19,286.39  21,549.02 -2,262.64 

Public management  15,260.32  16,975.79 -1,715.48  14,608.80  16,322.67 -1,713.87 

Total 76147 84707 -8560 72896 81448 -8552

2013/14 2012/13

Sources of Revenue Estimate 
R'000

Actual 
Amount 
collected 
R'000

(Over)/ under 
collection 
R'000

Estimate 
R'000

Actual amount 
collected R'000

(Over)/Under 
collection R'000

Parliamentary grant  68,117  68,117  -    63,096  63,096  -   

Deferred income  5,661  11,345  -5,684  6,402  11,596  -5,194 

Transfer revenue  -    1,601 

Other income  2,369  5,418  -3,049  3,398  3,129  269 

TOTAL  76,147  86,481  -8,733  72,896  77,821  -4,925 
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Governance
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1. INTRODUCTION
Corporate governance embodies processes and systems through which public entities are directed, controlled 
and held to account. In addition to legislative requirements based on a public entity’s enabling legislation, and the
Companies Act, corporate governance with regard to public entities is applied through the precepts of the 
Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) and run in tandem with the principles contained in the King’s Report on 
Corporate Governance. The responsibility for corporate governance sits with Parliament, the Executive and the 
Accounting Authority of the public.

2. PORTFOLIO COMMITTEES
Portfolio Committee for Arts and Culture.

3. EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY
The NLSA submitted the first draft of the Strategic Plan 2014/2019 and Annual Performance Plan 2014/15 to 
DAC on 30 August 2013. The second draft was submitted on 30 November 2013 and the final document on 30 
January 2014. Quarterly performance reports were also submitted to DAC on 30 July 2013, 30 October 2013, 30 
January 2014 and 30 April 2014.

The NLSA received feedback from the Minister of Arts and Culture on 1 April 2014. He endorsed the NLSA mid-
year review performance as commendable. Quarterly reports reflecting financial and non-financial performance 
information were punctually received and promptly signed by the NLSA Board representative. During the first 
quarter, 84% of the set targets were achieved; 2% partially achieved and 14% not achieved. During the second 
quarter, 96% of the set targets were achieved; 0% partially achieved and 4% not achieved. The overall half year 
performance reflects that out of 91performance indicators assessed, the institution has successfully achieved 
90%; 0% partially achieved and 10% not achieved.

The NLSA half year review performance is commendable, however, there was still room for improvement with the 
outstanding 10% of targets (combined partially and not achieved). This shortfall required intervention by both the 
NLSA Board and the Management of the institution to improve the situation.
 
The NLSA is proud to report that 97% of the set targets were achieved for the 2013/14 financial year. 

4. THE BOARD OF THE NATIONAL LIBRARY
Introduction
The affairs of the NLSA of South Africa are controlled by the NLSA Board. The functions of the Board are as 
follows: (In terms of Section 7 of the NLSA of South Africa Act 92 of 1998)

• To formulate the policies of the NLSA in consultation with the Minister;
• To approve the budget of the NLSA;
• To approve the financial statements of the NLSA;
• To advise the Minister with regard to matters with which the NLSA is concerned; and
• To furnish the Minister with such information as the Minister may require.

The role of the Board is as follows:
The primary role of the Board is providing leadership to the executive of an entity in discharging the responsibilities 
assigned to it under the NLSA of South Africa Act 92 of 1998; as well as other relevant legislation and approved 
codes of good practice in governing and business behaviour. Board members of the NLSA are valued as 
professionals on the basis of their individual expertise and they are not to represent the sole interest of their 

PART C: GOVERNANCE
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companies or institutions.

Board Charter
The NLSA Board Charter has been drafted with the assistance of the internal auditors and should be finalised 
during the next financial year.

Composition of the Board 

Name Date appointed/ 
resigned

Qualifications Area of Expertise No. of Meetings 
attended

Ms E R Tise 
(Chairperson)

1 October 2012. B Bibl Hons Strategic management of library and 
information services, information 
management, leadership, management 
of library associations, fundraising, 
advocacy and marketing and  national 
and international leadership in library and 
information services.

6

M P R Coates 4 October 2013. Master of 
Information Science

Senior Library Management at National 
Library, Editorial and Indexing work and 
conservation of library materials.

4

Mr L A O Ebrahim Appointed for second 
term 1 October 2012.

M Phil Accounting, Finance and Law. 5

Ms E M  Josias-
Manuel

Appointed 1 October 
2012. Resigned 25 July 
2013

Masters in Business 
Administration

Library and Information Services. N/A

Ms R Kalidass 1 October 2012. Chartered 
Accountant

Internal and external audit, financial turn-
around plans.

3

Mr K D Madumo 1 October 2012. B.Inf Honours, Human resources management, ICT 
knowledge pertaining to LIS, strategic 
management.

5

Mr J R Morakile 3 February 2013. Hons Library 
and Information 
Science, Advanced 
certificate in 
Information 
Systems 
Management

Information Technology, Business 
leadership and transformation.

6

Dr W P Rowland 1 October 2012. PhD General management and administration, 
information services, public finance, 
scientific research, human resources and 
fundraising.

6

Dr D S Selematsela Appointed 1 October 
2012.

D.Litt et Phil Strategic management of LIS, Strategic 
Awareness/Advocacy, Information and 
Communication Technologies in LIS, 
Human Resource Management and 
Labour Relations.

5

Prof L J Teffo 1 October 2012. PhD Co-authored the Library and Information 
Charter, transformation of curricula, author 
and editor.

5

Mr J K Tsebe 
National Librarian Ex 
0fficio

1 October 2012
Retired: 28 February 
2014

Masters degree in 
Library Science

National Librarian March 2004 – February 
2014.

6
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Committees 
The Board has a number of sub-committees to assist the NLSA and the Board members with governance and 
overview of the National Library of South Africa. The sub-committees meet before Board Meetings to review and 
evaluate reports before recommending approval to the NLSA Board.

Committee No. of meetings held No. of members Name of members

Executive Committee. 0 8 Ms Ellen Tise (Chairperson)
Prof Lesiba Teffo 
Mr Charles Ebrahim
Mr Kepi Madumo
Ms Rachel Kalidass
National Librarian
Deputy National Librarian

Audit Committee 4 4 Mrs M M D Nkomo (Chairperson)
Ms R Kalidass
Mr N S Cronje
Mr P M Nel

Finance Committee. 5 6 Mr Liaquat Ebrahim (Chairperson)
Dr William Rowland
Mr Kepi Madumo
National Librarian 
CFO
Deputy National Librarian

Human Resources Committee 4 6 Dr William Rowland (Chairperson)
Mr Jimmy Morakile
Prof Lesiba Teffo
Executive Head: HR 
National Librarian
Deputy National Librarian

Fundraising and Marketing Commit-
tee.

1 6 Dr William Rowland (Chairperson)
Dr Daisy Selematsela
Mr Jimmy Morakile
Mr Peter Coates
Deputy National Librarian
Executive Head: Corporate and Internation-
al Relations

Research, Knowledge Management 
and Community Engagement Com-
mittee.

4 13 Dr Daisy Selematsela (Chairperson)
Ms Ellen Tise
Mr Peter Coates
National Librarian
Deputy National Librarian
 Chief Financial Officer
Executive Librarians and Executive Heads

Information and Communications 
Technology Strategic Committee

2 6 Dr Happy Sithole (Chairperson)
Dr Daisy Selematsela
Mr Jimmy Morakile
Chief Information Officer National Librarian
Deputy National Librarian
Chief Financial Officer

Remuneration of board members
In terms of Section 7(2) of the National Library of South Africa Act, 1998 (Act no 92 of 1998) “The Board may pay 
a member of the Board, who is not in the full-time employ of the State or who is not in the employ of the National 
Library, such allowances as the Minister with the concurrence of the Minister of Finance may determine.”

The National Library Board has been categorized as a Category B2 institution and the remuneration has been 
approved by the Minster of Arts and Culture in concurrence with the Minister of Finance on 30 November 2010.

According to the Adjustment of the remuneration levels: services benefit packages for office-bearers of certain 
statutory and other institutions circular, issued by National Treasury, the remuneration tariffs for part-time members 
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are approved by the Minister of Finance and adjusted annually on 1 April by National Treasury each year. 

Travel fees are claimable based on NLSA rates (return travel by car according to AA rates for applicable engine 
capacity; and expenditure on parking and toll fees) on submission of receipts.)

The remuneration of all members must be disclosed as notes to the financial statements of the NLSA - TR 28.1.1 
- TR 28.1.4

Name Remuneration Other allowance Other re-imbursements Total

Ms E R Tise 
(Chairperson) 27,848 - - 27,848

M P R Coates 6,552 - - 6,552

Mr L A O Ebrahim 36,594 - 2,014 38,608

Ms E M  Josias-Manuel 1,872 - 2,221 4,093

Ms R Kalidass 14,592 - - 14,592

Mr K D Madumo - - 3,411 3,411

Mr J R Morakile 20,592 - 4,422 25,014

Dr W P Rowland 33,736 - 1,173 34,909

Dr D Selematsela 25,830 - 3,049 28,979

Prof L J Teffo 17,082 - 2,248 19,330

5. RISK MANAGEMENT  
• The NLSA has a risk management policy and strategy .
• The NLSA conducts regular risk assessments to determine the effectiveness of its risk management strategy 

and to identify new and emerging risks.
• There is a Risk Management Committee at NLSA.
• The Audit Committee advises the NLSA on risk management.
• The NLSA sees progress in Management of risks.

6. INTERNAL CONTROL UNIT 
The internal audit has been outsourced.

7. INTERNAL AUDIT AND AUDIT COMMITTEES
 The scope of Internal Audit encompasses the examination and evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness 

of the organization’s governance, risk management process, system of internal control structure; and the 
quality of performance in carrying out assigned responsibilities to achieve the organization’s stated goals and 
objectives.

The following work was performed by internal audit during the year:
• Governance
• Performance Information
• Information Technology
• Supply Chain Management 
• Health and Safety
• Financial Discipline and Reporting
• Key activities and objectives of the audit committee;
 The Audit Committee complies with its responsibilities arising from Section 51 (1) (a) (ii) of the Public Finance 

Management Act and Treasury Regulation 27.1. The Audit Committee has adopted appropriate formal terms 
of reference as its Audit Committee Charter. In ddition it has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter 
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and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein, except that the AC has not reviewed changes 
in accounting policies and practices.

• Attendance of audit committee meetings by audit committee members (Tabular form);

Name Date of meeting 22 

May 2013

Date of meeting 27 

July 2013

Date of meeting 16 

October 2013

Date of meeting 17 

February 2014

Maleho Nkomo P P P P

Rachel Kalidass A P A P

Nic Cronje P P P P

Paul Nel P P P P

Key:
P Present
A Absent

The tabled below discloses relevant information on the audit committee members
Name Qualifications Internal or 

external
If internal, 

position in the 
public entity

Date appointed Date Resigned No. of Meetings 
attended

Mrs M M 
D Nkomo 
(Chairper-
son)

B Comm
B Comm Honors
M Com

External N/A 28 January 2013 N/A 4

Ms R 
Kalidass

B Comm Hons
B Compt
CA (SAICA)

External N/A 28 January 2013 N/A 2

Mr N S 
Cronje

BCom
M Comm
CTA, CA (SA)

External N/A 28 January 2013 N/A 4

Mr P M 
Nel

B.Compt
B.Compt (Hons) and 
CTA
CA (SA)

External N/A 28 January 2013 N/A 4

In addition to the above members, persons attending the committee meetings by standing invitation include:
The National Librarian
The Deputy National Librarian
The Chief Financial Officer
Representatives of the Auditor-General of South Africa 
Representatives of the internal auditors
Chairperson of the Finance Committee 

8. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS 
The NLSA policies and procedures are developed in line with the relevant legislations to ensure compliance with 
the law.

9. FRAUD AND CORRUPTION
The revised Fraud Prevention Plan of the NLSA was approved by the Audit Committee and the NLSA Board in 
July 2013.



National Library of South Africa • Annual Report 2013/14   I  45

10. MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
The Supply Chain Management employees adhere to the SCM code of conduct and relevant policies and 
procedures governing supply chain management at the NLSA.

11. CODE OF CONDUCT 
Employees are required to sign declaration of interest in terms of the NLSA code of conduct. Non compliance is 
dealt with in terms of the NLSA disciplinary policy.

12. HEALTH SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 
The National Library of South Africa is currently re-aligning the health and safety function to be in line with applicable 
legislation.

The policy to regulate the entity Health and Safety environment is still at a draft stage.

13. COMPANY /BOARD SECRETARY 
Not applicable.

14. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
14:1  The NLSA through the Centre for the Book (CFB) has established 21 book clubs in schools, communities 

and within the correctional services.
14:2  The NLSA has donated 14,000 books during the World Book Day in North West Province.
14:3 The NLSA has supported budding authors to publish their books (14 books have been published).
14:4  Internet connectivity rolled out to Public Libraries.

15. AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 
We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2014.

Audit Committee Responsibility
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from Section 51 (1) (a) (ii) of 
the Public Finance Management Act and Treasury Regulation 27.1. The Audit Committee also reports that it 
has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit Committee Charter, has regulated its affairs in 
compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein, except that we have 
not reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control
Our review of the findings of the Internal Audit work, which was based on the risk assessments conducted in the 
public entity revealed certain weaknesses, which were then raised with the public entity.

The following internal audit work was completed during the year under review:
• Governance
• Performance Information
• Information Technology
• Supply Chain Management
• Health and Safety
• Financial Discipline and Reporting
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In-Year Management Quarterly Report 
Members of the Audit Committee received and reviewed quarterly management reports. It is the responsibility of 
management to report as required by the policies and in accordance to the required standards. The public entity 
reported quarterly to the Department of Arts and Culture.

Evaluation of the Annual Financial Statements
The Audit Committee has reviewed the following documents:
• The audited annual financial statements to be included in the annual report, which have been discussed with 

the Auditor-General and the Chief Financial Officer;
• the Auditor-General of South Africa’s management letter and management’s responses thereto;
• the appropriateness of accounting policies and accounting practices;
• the NLSA’s compliance with legal and regulatory provisions;
• the information on predetermined objectives to be included in the annual report; and
• significant adjustments resulting from the audit.

We have evaluated the annual financial statements of the NLSA for the year ended 31 March 2014 and on the 
basis of information provided, the Audit Committee considers that it complies with the requirements on the Public 
Finance Management Act 1, 1999 as amended and the Generally Recognized Accounting Practice (GRAP).

We have reviewed the entity’s implementation plan for audit issues raised in the prior year and we are satisfies that 
the matters have been adequately resolved except for the following:
• Lack of policies and procedures for heritage assets
• Certain assets could not be verified physically for existence.

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the conclusions of the Auditor-General on the annual financial 
statements and recommends that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read together with 
the report of the Auditor-General.

Maleho Nkomo
Chairperson of the Audit Committee
National Library of South Africa
30 July 2014
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1. INTRODUCTION 
The ultimate goal of our human resource programme is to provide service excellence to all the core and support 
functions of the National Library of South Africa by attracting and retaining suitably qualified individuals who will 
add value to the institution. During the past year, we concentrated mainly on integrated and holistic approach to 
human resources management including performance management, induction and orientation, and employee 
relations. The larger impact of these priorities focused on retention of staff. Our workforce planning priorities focus 
on those aspects that relates to employee optimisation. The organisation performance management system is 
a strategic and integrated system which is aimed at facilitating the attraction and retention of high-performing 
individuals. It provide the basis within which the National Library of South Africa (NLSA) can measure, monitor and 
reward performance. 

The employee wellness programme currently focus mainly on wellness days and testing campaigns create an 
atmosphere of wellness. The focus for the successive years will be on programmes aimed to enhance the quality 
of work life of employees. New policies were developed, namely remuneration policy, succession planning policy, 
and retention policy. We are continuously reviewing our policy environment to ensure compliance with the labour 
legislation and current human resources trends. During the year under review, we successfully negotiated with the 
unions the revision of conditions of service focusing on reducing accrued leave liability for the entity. Funding for 
positions, HR programs and initiatives remain one of the major challenge faced by the entity. The future human 
resources plan will focus on holistic approach in managing talent to build high-performing and diverse workforce.

2. HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS 

Personnel cost by programme/ activity/ objective: 

Programme/activity/objective Total Expenditure for 
the entity (R’000)

Personnel Expenditure 
(R’0)

Personnel 
exp. as a % 
of total  exp. 

(R’000)

No. of 
employees

Average personnel 
cost per employee 
(R’000)

Administration R36 698 407 R23 151 000 63 55 R 420 927.28

Business Development R22 887 181 R14 121 000 62 67 R210 726.20

Community Engagement R19 099 885 R15 061 000 78 58 R259 672.42

Personnel cost by salary band:
Level Personnel Expenditure 

(R’000)
% of personnel exp. to 
total personnel cost 
(R’000)

No. of employees Average personnel cost per 
employee (R’000)

Top Management R 3 235 025.74 6.17 2 R 1 617 512.87

Senior Management R3 451 538.18 6.58 4 R862 884.55

Professional 
qualified

R 16 612.889.28 31.67 19 R 874 362.59

Skilled R3 031 009.68 5.78 82 R36 963.53

Semi-skilled R26 119 870.12 49.80 74 R 352 971.22

Unskilled -  - - R 00.00

TOTAL R52 450 333 100 181 R3 744 694.76

PART D: HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
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Performance Rewards

Programme//activity/objective Performance rewards Personnel Expenditure 
(R’000)

% of performance rewards  
to total personnel cost 

(R’000)

Top Management bonus R65 962.68 0.13

Senior Management bonus R74 014.62 0.14

Professional qualified bonus R65 076.92 0.12

Skilled bonus R167 789.70 0.32

Semi-skilled Bonus R29 876.88 0.06

Unskilled staff - _

TOTAL R402 720.80 0.77

Training Costs 

Programme//activity/objective Personnel 
Expenditure (R’000)

Training 
Expenditure

(R’000)

Training Ex-
penditure as a 
% of Person-

nel Cost.

No. of 
employees 

trained

Avg training  
cost per 

employee

Administration R36 698 407 R122 734 0.33 14 R8 766.72

Business Development R22 887 181 R 173 965 0.76 26 R 6 690.97

Community Engagement R19 099 885 R 115 146 0.60 17 R 6 773.30

Employment and vacancies

Programme/activity/objective 2012/2013 
No. of 

Employees

2012/2013 
Approved Posts

2013/2014
No. of 

Employees

2013/2014 
Vacancies

% of vacancies

Administration 54 71 57 16 22.54

Business Development 72 100 67 33 33.00

Community Engagement 59 71 57 13 8.31

Total 185 242 181 62 25.62

Programme/activity/objective 2012/2013 
No. of 

Employees

2013/2014 
Approved Posts

2013/2014
No. of 

Employees

2014/2015 
Vacancies

% of vacancies

Top Management 3 3 2 1 33.33

Senior Management 5 8 4 2 25.00

Professional qualified 23 28 20 8 28.57

Skilled 83 120 82 39 32.50

Semi-skilled 71 83 73 10 12.05

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0.00

TOTAL 185 242 181 60 24.79

The National Library of South Africa continues to focus on filling vacancies to ensure operational efficiency of the 
entity. The entity intend to fill senior management positions that has been vacant for more than six months in the 
financial year ending 31 March 2015. 

Attempts were made to consider internal candidates for positions and no suitable candidate as per requirements 
of the position was found. We are building internal capacity through succession planning to ensure that the 
NLSA has internal capacity to meet future staffing needs and requirements. 46 of vacant positions on the current 
approved staff establishment are non-budgeted / funded positions. 
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Employment changes

Salary Band Employment at 
beginning of period

Appointments Terminations Employment at end of 
the period

Top Management 3 0 1 2

Senior Management 5 0 1 4

Professional qualified 23 1 4 20

Skilled 83 5 6 82

Semi-skilled 71 5 3 73

Unskilled 0 0 0 0

Total 185 11 15 181

Reasons for staff leaving: 

Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving

Death 1 7%

Resignation 9 60%

Dismissal 2 13%

Retirement 3 20%

Ill-health 0 0

Expiry of contract 0 0

Other 0 0

Total 15 100%

The NLSA has developed employee retention policy with the aim of attracting, developing and retaining talent. The 
entity embark on various retention strategies such as succession planning, promotions, performance bonuses, 
and annual performance notch increases amongst others to reduce staff turnover. 

Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action
Nature of disciplinary Action Number 

Verbal Warning 0

Written Warning 0

Final Written warning 0

Dismissal 2
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Equity Target and Employment Equity Status 
The National Library of South Africa continues to align the recruitment of staff in line with employment equity 
targets. The entity is making attempts to focus on increasing the employment of people with disability through the 
review of employment equity targets.

Levels MALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 3 0 0 0 1 0 1 0

Professional 
qualified

5 3 0 1 0 1 0 0

Skilled 16 13 4 5 0 10 5 0

Semi-skilled 33 3 9 2 0 1 1 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 57 19 13 8 1 12 7 0

Levels FEMALE

AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professional 
qualified

4 3 2 3 1 0 7 0

Skilled 39 0 10 0 0 8 8 0

Semi-skilled 20 0 9 2 0 2 1 0

Unskilled

TOTAL 65 5 21 5 1 10 16 0

Levels Disabled Staff

Male Female

Current Target Current Target

Top Management 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 0 0 0 0

Professional qualified 0 0 1 0

Skilled 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 0 0 1 0
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE NATIONAL 
LIBRARY OF SOUTH AFRICA

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction
1. I have audited the financial statements of the National Library of South Africa set out on pages 62 to 109, which 

comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2014, the statement of financial performance, 
statement of changes in net assets, the cash flow statement and the statement of comparison between 
budget and actual amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements
2. The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority, is responsible for the preparation and 

fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the South African Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance 
Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), and for such internal control as the accounting 
authority deems necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misrepresentation, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-general’s responsibility
3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted my 

audit in accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the general 
notice issued in terms thereof and International Standards on Auditing. These standards require that I plan and 
perform the audit ethically, so as to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misrepresentation.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the sums disclosed in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misrepresentation of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements. This is done in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my qualified 
audit opinion.

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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Basis of qualified opinion

Post-retirement medical aid liability
6. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for the post-retirement medical aid liability due 

to the lack of supporting documentation for a number of the retired employees who are included the post-
retirement medical aid liability. Consequently, I was unable to determine whether any further adjustment to the 
post- retirement medical aid liability stated at R 27 519 800, actuarial gain or loss stated at R 1 132 592 and 
personnel expenses stated at R 1 929 875, in the financial statements was necessary.

7. The entity did not use utilise accurate data and assumptions for the average retirement age and the accrual of 
the benefits to retired employees in the calculation of the post- retirement medical aid liability, as disclosed in 
Note 12 of the financial statements. It was impracticable to quantify the misstatement due to the specialised 
actuarial skills necessary to determine the value of the liability. Consequently, I was unable to determine 
whether any further adjustment to the post-retirement medical aid liability stated at R 27 519 800 in the 
financial statements were necessary.

Deferred income
8. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that management has valued the deferred 

revenue in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 23. This was due 
to management not performing an adequate reconciliation to determine the best estimate of the amount 
required to settle the present obligation by the reporting date. I was therefore unable to reconcile the amounts 
received against the utilisation thereof in the current and prior periods. I was also unable to confirm the 
amount of the deferred revenue by alternative means and thus I was unable to determine whether any further 
adjustments to deferred income, as stated at R 46 520 799 and deferred income realised and stated at R11 
344 552, were necessary.

Property, plant and equipment
9. The public entity has not complied with the requirements of the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 

Practice 17, in the accounting of property, plant and equipment by utilising both the cost and revaluation 
models to account for assets in the same category. Consequently the property, plant and equipment is 
overstated by an amount of R 721 109 (2013: R 423 957). The public entity has also incorrectly accounted 
for the purchase of property, plant and equipment as repairs and maintenance, thus not capitalising the 
purchase of property, plant and equipment when the recognition criteria of the Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice 17 have been met. Consequently repairs and maintenance expenses have 
been overstated by an amount of R 2 290 557. The effect on the financial statements are that the repairs and 
maintenance expense is overstated by an amount of R 2 290 557 and the property, plant and equipment 
understated by the corresponding amount.

Heritage assets
10. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for heritage assets, due to not being able to 

obtain information sheets to verify the heritage assets. I was also not able to confirm the heritage assets by 
alternative means. Consequently, I was unable to determine whether any adjustment to the heritage assets 
stated at R 3 354 104 and the capitalisation of heritage asset reserve stated at R 2 098 283 in the financial 
statements was necessary.
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Qualified opinion
11. In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the ‘basis of qualified opinion’ 

paragraphs, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
National Library of South Africa as at 31 March 2014 and its financial performance and cash flows for the 
year then ended, are in accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the Public Finance 
Management Act.

Emphasis of matter
12. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Going Concern
13. Note 34 of the financial statements highlights that the National Library of South Africa has accumulated deficits 

of R (12 648 491). Due to the liability created by the post- retirement medical aid benefit, the entity’s total 
liabilities exceed its assets by R (6 094 391). These conditions, together with other matters set forth in Note 
34, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the public entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern.

Re-statement of corresponding figures
14. As disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements, the corresponding figures for 31 March 2013 have been 

re-stated as a result of an error discovered during the year ended 31 March 2014 in the financial statements 
of the National Library of South Africa at, and for the year ended, 31 March 2013.

Additional matter
15. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Unaudited supplementary schedules
16. The supplementary information does not form part of the financial statements and is presented as additional 

information. I have not audited these schedules and, accordingly, I do not express an opinion thereon.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
17. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I report the following findings onthe 

reported performance information against pre-determined objectives for selected programmes presented 
in the performance report; non- compliance with legislation as well as internal control. The objective of 
my evaluation was to identify reportable findings as described under each sub-heading, but not to gather 
evidence to express assurance on these matters. Accordingly, I do not express an opinion or conclusion on 
these matters.

Pre-determined objective
18. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 

information for the following selected programmes presented in the performance report of the public entity for 
the year ended 31 March 2014:

 • Programme 2: Bibliographic Services and Collections management on pages 28 to 29

 • Programme 3: Information Access Services on pages 30 to 31

 • Programme 4: Preservation Services on page 32
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19. I evaluated the reported performance information against the overall criteria for usefulness and reliability.

20. I evaluated the worthiness of the reported performance information to determine whether this was presented 
in accordance with the National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance 
was consistent with the planned programmes. I further performed tests to determine whether indicators 
and targets were well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound and relevant, as required by the 
National Treasury’s Framework for managing programme performance information (FMPPI).

21. I assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate 
and complete.

22. The material findings in respect of the selected programmes are as follows:

Programme 2: Bibliographic Services and Collections Management 

Usefulness of reported performance information
Measurability of indicators
23. The FMPPI requires that the performance indicators must be well-defined by having clear data definitions so 

that data can be collected consistently and be easy to understand and use. A total of 33% of the indicators 
were not well-defined.

 This was because management did not adhere to the requirements of the FMPPI due to a lack of proper 
technical indicator descriptions that clearly describe the source/collection of data and the method of 
calculation.

Reliability of reported performance information
24. The FMPPI requires auditees to have appropriate systems to collect, collate, verify and store performance 

information to ensure valid, accurate and complete reporting of actual achievements against planned 
objectives, indicators and targets. Adequate and reliable corroborating evidence could not be provided for 
35.9% of the targets to assess the reliability of the reported performance information. The auditee’s records 
did not permit the application of alternative audit procedures.

 This was due to lack of monitoring of the completeness of source documentation in support of actual 
achievements and limitations placed on the scope of my work due to the inadequate evidence provided by 
management.

Programme 3: Information Access Services 

Reliability of reported performance information
25. The FMPPI requires auditees to have appropriate systems to collect, collate, verify and store performance 

information to ensure valid, accurate and complete reporting of actual achievements against planned 
objectives, indicators and targets. Adequate and corroborating evidence could not be obtained for 23.3% of 
the selected targets to assess the reliability of the reported performance information. The auditee’s records 
did not permit the application of alternative audit procedures.

 This was due to either a lack of standard operating procedures or documented system descriptions for the 
accurate recording of actual achievements and frequent review of the validity of reported achievements 
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against source documentation.

Programme 4: Preservation Services Measurability of indicators
26. The FMPPI requires that performance indicators must be well defined by having clear data definitions so that 

data can be collected consistently and be easy to understand and use. A total of 20% of the indicators were 
not well-defined.

 This was because management did not adhere to the requirements of the FMPPI due to a lack of proper 
technical indicator descriptions that clearly describe the source/collection of data and the method of 
calculation.

Reliability of reported performance information
27. The FMPPI requires auditees to have appropriate systems to collect, collate, verify and store performance 

information to ensure valid, accurate and complete reporting of actual achievements against planned 
objectives, indicators and targets. Adequate and reliable corroborating evidence could not be provided for 
50.0% of the selected targets to assess the reliability of the reported performance information. The auditee’s 
records did not permit the application of alternative audit procedures.

 This was due to either a lack of standard operating procedures or documented system descriptions for the 
accurate recording of actual achievements and monitoring of the completeness of source documentation in 
support of actual achievements.

Additional matters
28. I draw attention to the following matter:

Achievement of planned targets
29. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 26 to 36 for information on the achievement of planned 

targets for the year.

Compliance with legislation
30. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the National Library of South Africa had complied with 

applicable legislation regarding financial matters, financial management and other related matters. My findings 
on material non-compliance with specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the general notice issued in 
terms of the PAA, are as follows:

Expenditure management
31. The accounting authority did not take effective steps to prevent irregular expenditure, as required by section 

51(1)(b)(ii) of the Public Finance Management Act.

32. The accounting authority did not take effective steps to prevent losses resulting from criminal conduct, as 
required by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the Public Finance Management Act.

Budgets
33. Expenditure was incurred that was not budgeted for, thus resulting in a contravention of section 53(4) of the 

Public Finance Management Act.
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Financial statements, performance and annual reports
34. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial 

reporting framework and supported by full and proper records as required by section 55(2)(a) of the Public 
Finance Management Act. Material misstatements identified by the auditors in the submitted financial 
statements were not adequately corrected and the supporting records could not be provided subsequently, 
which resulted in the financial statements receiving a qualified audit opinion.

Internal control
35. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, annual performance report 

and compliance with legislation. The matters reported below are limited to the significant internal control 
deficiencies that resulted in the basis for  qualified opinion, the findings on the annual performance report and 
the findings on non- compliance with legislation included in this report.

Leadership
36. The accounting authority did not implement adequate processes and monitoring controls to ensure that 

reliable financial and performance information was produced. Furthermore the accounting authority did not 
implement adequate controls to ensure compliance with laws and regulations.

Governance
37. The internal audit unit did not adequately review financial and performance reports to confirm the reliability of 

the reports before their submission to audit committee or external auditors.

Investigations
38. An investigation by an independent service provider into contracts entered into by the previous Chief 

Information Officer was finalised and the outcome indicated that several contracts were entered into which 
resulted in irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure.

Pretoria
31 July 2014



60   I  National Library of South Africa • Annual Report 2013/14

National Library of South Africa
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014

2.  ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

Index
The reports and statements set indexed hereunder are presented in compliance with the requirements of South 
African Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) and comprise the annual financial 
statements presented to the Audit Committee:
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Statement of Financial Position 62
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Cash Flow Statement 65

Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts 66

Accounting Policies 68

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 81

Accounting Authority’s Responsibilities and Approval

The Board of the National Library of South Africa is required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999), 
to maintain adequate accounting records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial 
statements and related financial information included in this report. It is the responsibility of the Board to ensure 
that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the library as at the end of the financial year 
and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period ended. The external auditors have been engaged 
to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements and were given unrestricted access to all 
financial records and related data.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives of such Statements issued by 
the Accounting Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Board acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established 
by the entity and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the Board 
to meet these responsibilities, the board members set standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of 
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error or deficit in a cost-effective manner.

The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate delegation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls 
are monitored throughout the entity and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in 
ensuring that the entity’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. 
The focus of risk management in the entity is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms 
of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the entity endeavours to minimise it by 
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
pre-determined procedures and constraints.

The Board is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the 
system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the 
preparation of the annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide 
only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or deficit.

The Board has reviewed the entity’s cash flow forecast and, in the light of this review and the current financial 
position, it is satisfied that the entity has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future.

The library is wholly dependent on the state grant for continued funding of operations. The annual financial 
statements are prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern and that the Board has neither the 
intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the library.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 62 to 109, which have been prepared on the going 
concern basis, were approved by the Audit Committee on 28 July 2014 and will be approved by the Board on 
30 July 2014 and were signed on its behalf by:

Prof M.D Ralebipi-Simela    Ms E.R Tise
National Librarian & CEO   Chairperson of the board

National Library of South Africa 
30 July 2014
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2014

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Assets

Current Assets

Bequests related investments 4 2,100 500
Trade and other receivables 5 276,485 203,991

Prepayments 939,337 784,446

Cash and cash equivalents 6 48,923,002 27,454,915

50,140,924 28,443,852

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 7 20,219,034 21,141,257

Intangible assets 8 69,366 317,703

Heritage assets 9 3,354,104 -

Other financial assets: available-for-sale 10 3,750,000 2,460,000

27,392,504 23,918,960

Total Assets 77,533,428 52,362,812

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 9,587,220 9,905,705

Post employement benefit obligation 12 1,266,256 1,076,000

Deferred income - Current portion of grants received 13 32,914,445 9,191,079

43,767,921 20,172,784

Non-Current Liabilities

Post employement benefit obligation 12 26,253,544 25,875,010

Deferred income - non-current portion of grants received 13 13,606,354 16,559,297

39,859,898 42,434,307

Total Liabilities 83,627,819 62,607,091

Net Assets (6,094,391) (10,244,279)

Net Assets 

Reserves Revaluation reserve 721,109 423,957

Investment revaluation reserve 14 3,734,708 2,443,108

Capitalisation of heritage asset reserve 2,098,283 -

Accumulated deficit (12,648,491) (13,111,344)

Total Net Assets (6,094,391) (10,244,279)
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Statement of Financial Performance

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Revenue

Government grants & subsidies 16 68,117,000 63,096,000

Deferred income realised 11,344,552 11,340,108

Provident fund surplus 1,600,719 -

Actuarial gain 1,132,592 -

Interest received - investment 1,971,793 1,544,947

Administration and management fees 599,361 552,817

Dividends received 103,102 84,214

Other income 338,075 125,538

Rental income 111,608 101,462

Royalties received 144,338 120,154

Sundry income 1,017,451 2,137,017

Total revenue 86,480,591 79,102,257

Expenditure

Personnel Costs 21 (54,153,516) (50,640,791)

Depreciation and amortisation (4,905,467) (4,008,647)

Provision for bad debts adjustment / bad debts (879) (4,763)

Repairs and maintenance (496,215) (621,167)

General expenses 18 (25,150,485) (27,696,827)

Total expenditure (84,706,562) (82,972,195)

Loss on disposal of assets (32,656) (8,127)

Loss on foreign exchange (11,939) (237)

(44,595) (8,364)

Surplus (deficit) for the year 1,729,434 (3,878,302)
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Figures in Rand

Revaluation 
Reserve

Investment 
Revaluation 

Reserve

Capitalisation 
of heritage 

asset reserve
Total reserves Accumulated 

deficit
Total net 
assets

Balance at 01 April 2012 (32,286) 1,985,008 - 1,952,722 (9,233,042) (7,280,320)

Changes in net assets

Revaluation of furniture 
and equipment

456,243 - - 456,243 - 456,243

Revaluation of assets 
available for sale

- 458,100 - 458,100 - 458,100

Net income (losses) 
recognised directly in net 
assets

456,243 458,100 - 914,343 - 914,343

Surplus / (Deficit) for the 
year - - - - (3,878,302) (3,878,302)

Total recognised income 
and expenses for the 
year

456,243 458,100 - 914,343 (3,878,302) (2,963,959)

Total changes 456,243 458,100 - 914,343 (3,878,302) (2,963,959)

Opening balance as 
previously reported 423,957 2,443,108 - 2,867,065 (11,578,637) (8,711,572)

Adjustments

Change in accounting 
policy - - - - (1,532,707) (1,532,707)

Balance at 01 April 2013 
as restated

423,957 2,443,108 - 2,867,065 (13,111,344) (10,244,279)

Changes in net assets

Correction of errors - - - - (1,266,581) (1,266,581)

Net income (losses) 
recognised directly in net 
assets

- - - - (1,266,581) (1,266,581)

Surplus for the year - - - - 1,729,434 1,729,434
Total recognised income 
and expenses for the 
year

- - - - 462,853 462,853

Revaluation of furniture 
and equipment 297,152 - - 297,152 - 297,152

Revaluation of available-
for-sale assets - 1,291,600 - 1,291,600 - 1,291,600

Capitalisation of legal 
deposit material - - 2,098,283 2,098,283 - 2,098,283

Total changes 297,152 1,291,600 2,098,283 3,687,035 462,853 4,149,888

Balance at 31 March 
2014 721,109 3,734,708 2,098,283 6,554,100 (12,648,491) (6,094,391)

Note(s) 14 9
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Cash Flow Statement

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts

Grants 79,461,552 74,436,108

Interest received 1,971,793 1,544,947

Dividends received 103,102 84,214

The Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation Grant 27,112,371 -

Other income 3,811,552 3,052,011

112,460,370 79,117,280

Payments

Employee costs (54,153,516) (50,640,791)

Suppliers (32,107,125) (28,658,708)

(86,260,641) (79,299,499)

Net cash flows from operating activities 24 26,199,729 (182,219)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 7 (3,436,399) (4,834,438)

Purchase of other intangible assets 8 (39,422) (512,322)

Purchases of heritage assets 9 (1,255,821) -

Net cash flows from investing activities (4,731,642) (5,346,760)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 21,468,087 (5,528,979)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 27,454,915 32,983,894

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 48,923,002 27,454,915
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Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

Budget on Cash Basis

Figures in Rand Approved 
budget

Adjustments Final 
Budget

  Actual 
amounts on 
comparable 

basis

Difference 
between final 
budget and 

actual

% of ex-
penditure 
to budget
31 March 

2014

Statement of Financial Performance 

Revenue

Revenue from exchange 
transactions

Administration and 
management fees 591,250 - 591,250 599,361 8,111 101%

Actuarial gain - - - 1,132,592 1,132,592

Royalties received 40,000 - 40,000 144,338 104,338 360%

Rental income 95,000 - 95,000 111,608 16,608 117%

Parking and venue hire 315,000 - 315,000 338,075 23,075 107%

Sundry income 290,000 - 290,000 1,017,451 727,451 350%

Interest received - 
investment 1,037,500 - 1,037,500 1,971,793 934,293 156%

Dividends received - - - 103,102 103,102 100%

Total revenue from 
exchange transactions 2,368,750 - 2,368,750 5,418,320 3,049,570

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Revenue
Government grants & 
subsidies 68,117,000 - 68,117,000 68,117,000 - 100%

Transfer revenue

Provident fund surplus - - - 1,600,719 1,600,719 100%

Deferred income realised 5,661,000 - 5,661,000 11,344,552 5,683,552 207%

Total revenue from non- 
exchange transactions 73,778,000 - 73,778,000 81,062,271 7,284,271

Total revenue 76,146,750 - 76,146,750 86,480,591 10,333,841

Expenditure
Personnel (55,027,465) 847,154 (54,180,311) (54,153,516) 26,795 99%

Depreciation and 
amortisation - - - (4,905,467) (4,905,467) n/a

Debt impairment - - - (879) (879) n/a

Repairs and maintenance (1,148,000) 526,397 (621,603) (496,215) 125,388 92.8%

General Expenses (19,971,285) (1,373,551) (21,344,836) (25,150,485) (3,805,649) 117%

Total expenditure (76,146,750) - (76,146,750) (84,706,562) (8,559,812)
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Operating surplus - - - 1,774,029 1,774,029

Loss on disposal of 
assets and liabilities
Loss on foreign exchange

-

-

-

-

-

-

(32,656)

(11,939)

(32,656)

(11,939)

n/a

n/a

- - - (44,595) (44,595)

Surplus - - - 1,729,434 1,729,434

Actual Amount on 
Comparable Basis as 
Presented in the Budget 
and Actual Comparative 
Statement

- - - 1,729,434 1,729,434
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board.

These annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance 
with historical cost convention, unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied, are disclosed below.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period, except for the changes set out in note 2 
Changes in accounting policy

1.1   Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets that are held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during more 
than one period.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the 
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be utilised in the manner intended by management. Trade 
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, its cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition. 
Costs include the expense incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant or equipment and 
the expenditure incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service the item. If a replacement cost 
is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the 
replaced part is de-recognised.

Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is credited directly to a revaluation surplus.
The increase is recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same 
asset previously recognised in surplus or deficit.

Property, plants and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their
estimated residual value. Property, plants and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation 
including any impairment losses.

The useful lives of items of property, plants and equipment have been assessed as follows:
Item      Average useful life
Plant and machinery    10 years
Furniture and equipment    5 years
Motor vehicles     5 years
Computer equipment    3 years
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The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting date. 
If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Reviewing the useful life of an asset on an annual basis does not require the entity to amend the previous estimate 
unless expectations differ from the previous estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment is depreciated separately with a cost that is significant in 
relation to the total cost of the item.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are de-recognised when the asset is disposed of, or when no further 
economic benefit or service potential is expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the de-recognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus
or deficit when the item is de-recognised. The gain or loss arising from the de-recognition of an item of property,
plant or equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying
amount of the item.

1.2 Intangible assets
An asset is identified as an intangible asset when it:
is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or
exchanged, either individually or together with a related contract, asset or liability; or
arises from contractual rights or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable or separate
from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

When an intangible asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, the cost shall be its fair value as at the 
date of
acquisition.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is 
incurred.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there  is  no 
foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. 
Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever 
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a 
straight line basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.
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Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite, is an 
indicator that the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining 
carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not 
recognised as intangible assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as 
follows: 

Computer software 2 years

1.3 Heritage assets
In terms of GRAP 103, heritage assets are defined as assets that have a cultural, environmental, historical, 
natural, scientific, technological or artistic significance and are held indefinitely for the benefit of present and future 
generations.

Characteristics often displayed by heritage assets include the following:
(a) Their value in cultural, environmental, educational and historical terms is unlikely to be fully reflected in 

monetary terms.
(b) Ethical, legal and/or statutory obligations may impose prohibitions or severe stipulations on disposal by sale.
(c) They are often irreplaceable.
(d) Their value may increase over time even if their physical condition deteriorates.
(e) They have an indefinite life and their value appreciates over time due to their cultural, environmental, 

educational, natural scientific, technological, artistic or historical significance.
(f) They are protected, kept unencumbered, cared for and preserved.

In terms of the National Library Act of South Africa, Act 92 of 1998, the objects of the National Library are 
to contribute to socio-economic, cultural, educational, scientific and innovative development by collecting, 
recording, preserving  and making available the national documentary heritage and promoting an awareness 
and appreciation thereof, by fostering information literacy, and by facilitating access to the world’s information 
resources. The objects stated above include all collections of library books held by the National Library at both the 
Pretoria and Cape Town campuses.

All the books in NLSA are documentary heritage assets as they meet the definition of heritage assets as per GRAP 
103 and have the characteristics stated above.

The National Library of South Africa, like all heritage institutions, has the dilemma of having to place a monetary 
value on items that are kept for posterity. Some items may increase in value, while other items may decrease in 
value. There are also those items for which the value may fluctuate depending on demand which may vary from 
time to time. The Minister of Finance has, in terms of Section 91 of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act 
No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), published a Notice in the Government Gazette (Notice 33991) indicating the effective dates 
of five Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP). These Standards, which include GRAP 
103 Heritage Assets, must be applied by all Constitutional Institutions, Public Entities listed in schedule 3A and 3C 
of the PFMA, Municipalities and Municipal Entities (unless determined otherwise) for financial statements covering 
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periods beginning on or after 1 April 2012. The effect of this statement cannot be determined at this stage.

Recognition
The entity recognises a heritage asset as an asset if it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the asset will flow to the entity, and the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Initial measurement
Heritage assets are measured at cost. Where a heritage asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, 
its cost is measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Impairment
The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that it may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable amount, or the recoverable service amount, of the heritage 
asset.

Transitional provision
In accordance with the transitional provision as per Directive 2 of the GRAP Reporting Framework, where heritage 
assets were acquired through a transfer of functions, the entity is not required to measure those heritage assets 
for a period of three years from the effective date of the transfer of functions or the effective date of the Standard, 
whichever is the latter. The entity acquired a transfer(s) of function in 2014 and heritage assets have accordingly 
been recognised at provisional amounts, as disclosed.

1.4 Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a 
residual interest of another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial 
liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation 
using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and 
minus any reduction (directly or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or non collectibility.

A concessionary loan is a loan granted to, or received by, an entity on terms that are not market-related.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing 
to discharge an obligation.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates.

De-recognition is the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s statement 
of financial position.
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A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:
• Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity 

price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided 
in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract (sometimes 
called the ‘underlying’).

• It either requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for 
other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

• It is settled at a future date.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability 
(or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall 
estimate cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, call 
and similar options) but shall not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or 
received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate (see the Standard 
of GRAP on Revenue from Exchange Transactions), transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. 
There is a presumption that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be 
estimated reliably. However, in those rare cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows or the 
expected life of a financial instrument (or group of financial instruments), the entity shall use the contractual cash 
flows over the full contractual term of the financial instrument (or group of financial instruments).

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is:
• cash;
• a residual interest of another entity; or
• a contractual right to:
 - receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
  exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially 

- favourable to the entity.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the 
original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to:
• deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
• exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
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financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions. Loans payable 
are financial liabilities, other than short-term payables on normal credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price 
risk.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes 
are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar 
financial instruments traded in the market.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due.

A residual interest is any contract that manifests an interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. A residual interest includes contributions from owners, which may be shown as:
equity instruments or similar forms of unitised capital;
• a formal designation of a transfer of resources (or a class of such transfers) by the parties to the transaction as 

forming part of an entity’s net assets, either before the contribution occurs or at the time of the contribution; or
• a formal agreement, in relation to the contribution, establishing or increasing an existing financial interest in 

the net assets of an entity.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a 
financial asset or financial liability. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had 
not acquired, issued or disposed of the financial instrument.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that 
have fixed or determinable payments, excluding those instruments that:
• the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or
• are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in an 
active market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities that are:
• derivatives;
• combined instruments that are designated at fair value;
• instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is held for trading if:
 - it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or
  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together  

 and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term profit-taking;
 - non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are   

 designated at fair value at initial recognition; and
 - financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or   

 financial instruments at cost.
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Initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
The entity measures all financial assets and financial liabilities after initial recognition using the following categories:
• Financial instruments at fair value.

Fair value measurement considerations
The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. If the market for a financial instrument is 
not active, the entity establishes fair value by using a valuation technique. The objective of using a valuation 
technique is to establish what the transaction price would have been on the measurement date in an arm’s 
length exchange motivated by normal operating considerations. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s 
length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, reference to the current fair value 
of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. If 
there is a valuation technique commonly used by market participants to price the instrument and that technique 
has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual market transactions, the entity 
uses that technique. The chosen valuation technique makes maximum use of market inputs and relies as little 
as possible on entity-specific inputs. It incorporates all factors that market participants would consider in setting 
a price and is consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments. Periodically, 
an entity calibrates the valuation technique and tests it for validity using prices from any observable current 
market transactions in the same instrument (i.e. without modification or repackaging) or based on any available 
observable market data.

1.5 Tax
No provision for income tax was made as the entity is incorporated as an entity not for gain and listed as a 
schedule 3A public entity according to the PFMA. The entity is exempt from tax.

1.6 Share capital / contributed capital
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 
of its liabilities.

1.7 Employee benefits Post-employment benefits
Post-employment benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which are payable after the 
completion of employment.

Post-employment benefit plans are formal or informal arrangements under which an entity provides post-
employment benefits for one or more employees.

Post-employment benefits: Defined benefit plans
Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans.
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Actuarial gains and losses comprise experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous 
actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred) and the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions. In 
measuring its defined benefit liability the entity recognise actuarial gains and losses in surplus or deficit in the 
reporting period in which they occur.

Assets held by a long-term employee benefit fund are assets (other than non-transferable financial instruments 
issued by the reporting entity) that are held by an entity (a fund) that is legally separate from the reporting entity 
and exists solely to pay or fund employee benefits and are available to be used only to pay or fund employee 
benefits, are not available to the reporting entity’s own creditors (even in liquidation), and cannot be returned to 
the reporting entity, unless either:
• the remaining assets of the fund are sufficient to meet all the related employee benefit obligations of the plan 

or the reporting entity; or
• the assets are returned to the reporting entity to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid.

Current service cost is the increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee 
service in the current period.

Interest cost is the increase during a period in the present value of a defined benefit obligation which arises 
because the benefits are one period closer to settlement.

Past service cost is the change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation for employee service in 
prior periods, resulting in the current period from the introduction of, or changes to, post-employment benefits 
or other long-term employee benefits. Past service cost may be either positive (when benefits are introduced or 
changed so that the present value of the defined benefit obligation increases) or negative (when existing benefits 
are changed so that the present value of the defined benefit obligation decreases). In measuring its defined benefit 
liability the entity recognises past service cost as an expense in the reporting period in which the plan is amended.

The present value of a defined benefit obligation is the present value, without deducting any plan assets, of 
expected future payments required to settle the obligation resulting from employee service in the current and prior 
periods.

The amount recognised as a defined benefit liability is the net total of the following amounts:
• the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date;
• minus the fair value at the reporting date of plan assets (if any) out of which the obligations are to be settled 

directly;
• plus any liability that may arise as a result of a minimum funding requirement.

The amount determined as a defined benefit liability may be negative (an asset). The entity measures the resulting 
asset at the lower of:
• the amount determined above; and
• the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future 

contributions to the plan. The present value of these economic benefits is determined using a discount rate 
that reflects the time value of money.

Any adjustments arising from the limit above is recognised in surplus or deficit.
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The entity determines the present value of defined benefit obligations and the fair value of any plan assets with 
sufficient regularity such that the amounts recognised in the annual financial statements do not differ materially 
from the amounts that would be determined at the reporting date.

The entity recognises the net total of the following amounts in surplus or deficit, except to the extent that another 
Standard requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset:
• current service cost;
• interest cost;
• the expected return on any plan assets and on any reimbursement rights;
• actuarial gains and losses;
• past service cost;
• the effect of any curtailments or settlements; and
• the effect of applying the limit on a defined benefit asset (negative defined benefit liability).

The entity uses the Projected Unit Credit Method to determine the present value of its defined benefit obligations 
and the related current service cost and, where applicable, past service cost. The Projected Unit Credit Method 
(sometimes known as the accrued benefit method pro-rated on service or as the benefit/years of service method) 
sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit 
separately to build up the final obligation.

In determining the present value of its defined benefit obligations and the related current service cost  and,  where 
applicable, past service cost, an entity shall attribute benefit to periods of service under the plan’s benefit formula. 
However, if an employee’s service in later years will lead to a materially higher level of benefit than in earlier years, 
an entity shall attribute benefit on a straight-line basis from:
• the date when service by the employee first leads to benefits under the plan (whether or not the benefits are 

conditional on further service); until
• the date when further service by the employee will lead to no material amount of further benefits under the 

plan, other than from further salary increases.

Actuarial valuations are conducted on an annual basis by independent actuaries separately for each plan. The 
results of the valuation are updated for any material transactions and other material changes in circumstances 
(including changes in market prices and interest rates) up to the reporting date.

The entity recognises gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan when the curtailment 
or settlement occurs. The gain or loss on a curtailment or settlement comprises:
• any resulting change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation; and
• any resulting change in the fair value of the plan assets.

Before determining the effect of a curtailment or settlement, the entity re-measures the obligation (and the related 
plan assets, if any) using current actuarial assumptions (including current market interest rates and other current 
market prices).

When it is virtually certain that another party will reimburse some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
defined benefit obligation, the right to reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset. The asset is measured 
at fair value. In all other respects, the asset is treated in the same way as plan assets. In surplus or deficit, the 
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expense relating to a defined benefit plan is [OR is not] presented as the net of the amount recognised for a 
reimbursement.

The entity offsets an asset relating to one plan against a liability relating to another plan when the entity has a 
legally enforceable right to use a surplus in one plan to settle obligations under the other plan and intends either 
to settle the obligations on a net basis, or to realise the surplus in one plan and settle its obligation under the other 
plan simultaneously.

Actuarial assumptions
Actuarial assumptions are unbiased and mutually compatible.

Financial assumptions are based on market expectations, at the reporting date, for the period over which the 
obligations are to be settled.

The rate used to discount post-employment benefit obligations (both funded and unfunded) reflect the time value 
of money. The currency and term of the financial instrument selected to reflect the time value of money is consistent 
with the currency and estimated term of the post-employment benefit obligations.

Post-employment benefit obligations are measured on a basis that reflects:
• estimated future salary increases;
• the benefits set out in the terms of the plan (or resulting from any constructive obligation that goes beyond 

those terms) at the reporting date; and
• estimated future changes in the level of any state benefits that affect the benefits payable under a defined 

benefit plan if, and only if, either:
• those changes were enacted before the reporting date; or
• past history, or other reliable evidence, indicates that those state benefits will change in some predictable 

manner, for example, in line with future changes in general price levels or general salary levels.

Assumptions about medical costs take account of estimated future changes in the cost of medical services, 
resulting from both inflation and specific changes in medical costs.

1.8 Revenue
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the enterprise and these 
benefits can be measured reliably.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have 
been transferred to the buyer.

Revenue from letting out of equipment and space is recognised when the service has taken place.  In the case of 
space-letting,  revenue is recognized when it is earned.

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis,  taking into account the principal amount outstanding and 
the effective interest rate over the period to maturity.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the right to receive payment has been established. 
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Government transfer payments are recognised when the income is received.

1.9 Government grants
Government grants are recorded as deferred income when they become receivable and are then recognised as 
income on a systematic basis over the periods necessary to match the grants with related costs that they are 
intended to compensate
• Income-related grants subsidising expenses are credited to the statement of financial results as other income 

when the related expense is recognised.
• - Capital contributions on computer equipment is credited at 33% per annum on a straight-line method to the 

statement of financial results based on the estimated useful life of computer equipment.

1.10 Investment income
Investment income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

1.11 Translation of foreign currencies Foreign currency transactions
A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency 
amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the 
transaction.

At each reporting date:
foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising from the settlement of monetary items; or from translating monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period; or in previous annual 
financial statements; are recognised in surplus or deficit during the period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised directly in net assets, any exchange component of 
that gain or loss is recognised directly in net assets. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in 
surplus or deficit, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands. This is calculated by applying to 
the foreign currency amount of the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the 
cash flow.

1.12 Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current 
year.
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1.13 Unauthorised expenditure
Unauthorised expenditure means:
• over-spending of a vote or a main division within a vote; and
• expenditure not in accordance with the purpose of a vote or, in the case of a main division, not in accordance 

with the purpose of the main division.

All expenditure relating to unauthorised expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with 
the nature of the expense, and where recovered, is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of 
financial performance.

1.14 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and could have been avoided had reasonable care 
been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of 
financial performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance 
with the nature of the expense and, where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement 
of financial performance.

1.15 Irregular expenditure
Irregular expenditure, as defined in section 1 of the PFMA, is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, 
incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with, a requirement of any applicable legislation, including -
(a) this Act; or
(b) the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or
(c) any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the 
PFMA requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial and which was condoned before 
year-end and/or before finalisation of the financial statements, must also be recorded appropriately in the irregular 
expenditure register. In such an instance, no further action is required with the exception of updating the note to 
the financial statements.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which permission is 
awaited at year-end, must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further action is required with the 
exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following 
financial year, the register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the amount 
condoned.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not condoned 
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by the National Treasury or the relevant authority, must be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure 
register. If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account must be created if 
such a person is liable by law. Furthermore, immediate steps must be taken thereafter to recover the amount from 
the person concerned. If recovery is not possible, the accounting officer or accounting authority may write off 
the amount as debt impairment and disclose such in the relevant note to the financial statements. The irregular 
expenditure register must also be updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has not been condoned and no 
person is liable in law, the expenditure related thereto must remain against the relevant programme/expenditure 
item, be disclosed as such in the note to the financial statements and updated accordingly in the irregular 
expenditure register.

1.16 Conditional grants and receipts
Revenue received from conditional grants, donations and funding are recognised as revenue to the extent that the 
Library has complied with all of the criteria, conditions or obligations embodied in the agreement. To the extent 
that the criteria, conditions or obligations have not been met, a liability is recognised.

1.17 Related parties
The entity operates in an economic sector currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the South 
African Government. As a consequence of the constitutional independence of the three spheres of government in 
South Africa, only entities within the national sphere of government are considered to be related parties.

Management are those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
including those charged with the governance of the entity in accordance with legislation, in instances where they 
are required to perform such functions.

Close members of the family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that management in their dealings with the entity.



National Library of South Africa • Annual Report 2013/14   I  81

National Library of South Africa
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand 2014 2013

2. Changes in accounting policy
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice on a basis consistent with the prior year except for the adoption of the following new or 
revised standards.
• GRAP 25: Employee benefits

GRAP 25 - Employee benefits
During the year, the entity changed its accounting policy with respect to the treatment of post-retirement medical 
aid benefit. In order to conform with the benchmark treatment in of GRAP25, all unrecognised actuarial gains and 
losses are to be recognised.

The aggregate effect of the changes in accounting policy on the annual financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2013 is as follows:

Statement of financial position 

Non-current liability:

Post employment benefit obligation

Previously stated - 24,342,302
Adjustment - 1,532,708

- 25,875,010

Statement of Financial Performance

Actuarial (gain) or losses
Previously stated - 223,571

Adjustment - 1,532,708

- 1,756,279

Cash flow statement

Cash flow from operating activities

Movements in retirement benefit liabilities
Previously stated - 2,011,549

Adjustment - 1,532,708

- 3,544,257

3. New standards and interpretations

3.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year
In the current year, the entity has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the 
current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

GRAP 25: Employee benefits
The objective of GRAP25 is to prescribe the accounting and disclosure for employee benefits. The Standard 
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requires an entity to recognise:
a liability when an employee has provided service in exchange for employee benefits to be paid in the future; and
• an expense when an entity consumes the economic benefits or service potential arising from a service 

provided by an employee in exchange for employee benefits.

GRAP25  must  be  applied  by  an  employer  in  accounting  for  all  employee  benefits,  except  share- based  
payment transactions.

GRAP25 defines, amongst others, the following:
• Employee benefits as all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service rendered by 

employees;
• Defined contribution plans as post-employment benefit plans under which an entity pays fixed contributions 

into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the 
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current 
and prior periods;

• Defined benefit plans as post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans;
• Multi-employer plans as defined contribution plans (other than state plans and composite social security 

programmes) or defined benefit plans (other than state plans) that:
 - pool the assets contributed by various entities that are not under common control; and
 - use those assets to provide benefits to employees of more than one entity, on the basis that   

 contribution and benefit levels are determined without regard to the identity of the entity that employs  
 the employees concerned;

• Other long-term employee benefits as employee benefits (other than post-employment benefits and termination 
benefits) that are not due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees 
render the related service;

• Post-employment benefits as employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are payable after the 
completion of employment;

• Post-employment benefit plans as formal or informal arrangements under which an entity provides post-
employment benefits for one or more employees;

• Short-term employee benefits as employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are due to be settled 
within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service;

• State plans as plans other than composite social security programmes established by legislation which 
operate as if they are multi-employer plans for all entities in economic categories laid down in legislation;

• Termination benefits as employee benefits payable as a result of either:
 - an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or
 - an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits;
• Vested employee benefits as employee benefits that are not conditional on future employment.

The standard states the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of:
• Short-term employee benefits;
 - All short-term employee benefits;
 - Short-term compensated absences;
 - Bonus, incentive and performance related payments;
• Post-employment benefits: Defined contribution plans;
• Other long-term employee benefits;
• Termination benefits.
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The standard states post-employment benefits: Distinction between defined contribution plans and defined benefit 
plans:
• Multi-employer plans;
• Defined benefit plans where the participating entities are under common control;
• State plans;
• Composite social security programmes;
• Insured benefits.

The standard states, for post-employment benefits: Defined benefit plans, the following requirements:
• Recognition and measurement;
• Presentation;
• Disclosure;
• Accounting for the constructive obligation;
• Statement of financial position;
• Asset recognition ceiling;
• Asset recognition ceiling: When a minimum funding requirement may give rise to a liability;
• Statement of financial performance.

The standard prescribes recognition and measurement for:
• Present value of defined benefit obligations and current service cost:
 - Actuarial valuation method;
 - Attributing benefits to periods of service;
 - Actuarial assumptions;
 - Actuarial assumptions: Discount rate;
 - Actuarial assumptions: Salaries, benefits and medical costs;
 - Actuarial gains and losses;
 - Past service cost.

• Plan assets:
 - Fair value of plan assets;
 - Reimbursements;
 - Return on plan assets.

The standard also deals with entity combinations, and Curtailments and settlements.

This standard has been approved by the Board, but its effective date has not yet been determined by the Minister 
of Finance. The effective date indicated is a provisional date and could change depending on the decision of the 
Minister of Finance.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 April 2013.

The entity has adopted the standard for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements. The impact of the 
standard is set out in note 2 ‘Changes in Accounting Policy’.
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GRAP 20: Related parties
The objective of this standard is to ensure that a reporting entity’s annual financial statements contain the 
disclosures necessary to draw attention to the possibility that its financial position and surplus or deficit may have 
been affected by the existence of related parties and by transactions and outstanding balances with such parties.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting (in this standard 
referred to as the reporting entity) shall apply this standard in:
• identifying related party relationships and transactions;
• identifying outstanding balances, including commitments, between an entity and its related parties;
• identifying the circumstances in which disclosure of the items in (a) and (b) is required; and
• determining the disclosures to be made about those items.

This standard requires disclosure of related party relationships, transactions and outstanding balances, including 
commitments, in the consolidated and separate financial statements of the reporting entity.  This is in accordance 
ith the Standard of GRAP on Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. This standard also applies to 
individual annual financial statements.

Disclosure of related party transactions, outstanding balances, including commitments and relationships with 
related parties, may affect users’ assessments of the financial position and performance of the reporting entity and 
its ability to deliver agreed upon services, including assessments of the risks and opportunities facing the entity. 
This disclosure also ensures that the reporting entity is transparent about its dealings with related parties.

The standard states that a related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control, or jointly control the other
party, or exercise significant influence over the other party, or vice versa; or an entity that is subject to common
control or joint control. At a minimum, the following are regarded as related parties of the reporting entity:
influence over the reporting entity:
• A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the reporting entity if that person:
 - has control or joint control over the reporting entity;
 - has significant influence over the reporting entity;
 - is a member of the management of the entity or its controlling entity.
• An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the following conditions apply:
 - the entity is a member of the same economic entity (which means that each controlling entity, controlled  

 entity and fellow-controlled entity is related to the others);
 - one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a   

 member of an economic entity of which the other entity is a member);
 - both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;
 - one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
 - the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the entity or an entity  

 related to the entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are related to  
 the entity;

 - the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and
 - a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over that entity or is a member of the management of  

 that entity (or its controlling entity).

The standard further states that a related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations 
between the reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.
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The standard elaborates on the definitions and identification of:
• Close member of the family of a person;
• Management;
• Related parties;
• Remuneration; and
• Significant influence

The standard sets out the requirements, inter alia, for the disclosure of:
• Control;
• Related party transactions; and
• Remuneration of management

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 April 2013.

The entity has adopted the standard for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements. The impact of the 
standard is not material.

GRAP 1 (as revised 2012): Presentation of Financial Statements
Paragraphs .108 and .109 were amended by the improvements to the Standards of GRAP issued previously: 
Amendments were made to the ‘Statement of Financial Performance’ as well as the ‘Statement of Changes in Net 
Assets.’ All amendments are to be applied retrospectively. 

The amendment is effective from 01 April 2013 or therafter.

The entity has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

The adoption of this amendment has not had a material impact on the results of the entity, but has resulted in more 
disclosure than would have previously been provided in the annual financial statements.

GRAP 3 (as revised 2012): Accounting Policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
Paragraphs .17 and .18 were amended by the improvements to the ‘Standards of GRAP’ issued previously:
Amendments were also made to Changes in Accounting Policies.

The amendment is effective from 01 April 2013 or thereafter.

The entity has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

The adoption of this amendment has not had a material impact on the results of the entity, but has resulted in more 
disclosure than would have previously been provided in the annual financial statements.

GRAP 9 (as revised 2012): Revenue from Exchange Transactions
Paragraphs .11 and .13 were amended by the improvements to the ‘Standards of GRAP’ issued previously: 
Amendments were made to the ‘Scope and Definitions’.
All amendments are to be applied retrospectively.
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The amendment is effective from 01 April 2013 or thereafter.

The entity has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements. The impact of 
the amendment is not material.

GRAP 17 (as revised 2012): Property, Plant and Equipment
Paragraphs .44, .45, .72, .75, .79 and .85 were amended by the improvements to the ‘Standards of GRAP’ issued
previously: Amendments were made to ‘Measurement after recognition, De-recognition and Disclosure.’ All 
amendments are to be applied retrospectively.

The amendment is effective from 01 April 2013 or thereafter.

The entity has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements. The impact of 
the amendment is not material.

GRAP 31 (as revised 2012): Intangible Assets (Replaces GRAP 102)
Numerous paragraphs were amended by the improvements to the ‘Standards of GRAP’ issued previously: 
Changes made affect three areas, which can be summarised as follows:

• Consequential amendments arising from the alignment of the accounting treatment and text of GRAP 
102 with that in IPSAS 31,

• The deletion of guidance and examples from Interpretations issues by the IASB previously included in 
GRAP102,

• Changes to ensure consistency between the Standards, or to clarify existing principles.

All amendments are to be applied retrospectively.

The amendment is effective from 01 April 2013 or thereafter.

The entity has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements. The impact of 
the amendment is not material.

3.2 Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective

The entity has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are 
mandatory for the entity’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2014, or later periods:

GRAP 105: Transfers of functions between entities under common control
The objective of this Standard is to establish accounting principles for the acquirer and transferor in a transfer of 
functions between entities under common control. This requires an acquirer and a transferor who prepares and 
presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting. They are required to apply this Standard to  
a transaction or event that meets the definition of a transfer of functions. This includes a diagram and requires  
hat entities consider the diagram in determining whether this Standard should be applied in accounting for a  
ransaction or event that involves a transfer of functions or a merger.



National Library of South Africa • Annual Report 2013/14   I  87

National Library of South Africa
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014

 
It furthermore covers Definitions; Identifying the acquirer and transferor; Determining the transfer date; Assets 
acquired or transferred and liabilities assumed or relinquished; Accounting by the acquirer and transferor; 
Disclosure; Transitional provisions as well as the effective date of the standard.

The standard becomes effective on or after 01 April 2014.

The entity expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the entity’s annual financial statements.

GRAP 106: Transfers of functions between entities not under common control
The objective of this Standard is to establish accounting principles for the acquirer in a transfer of functions between 
entities not under common control. This requires an entity that prepares and presents financial statements under 
theaccrual basis of accounting, to apply this Standard to a transaction or other event that meets the definition of a
transfer of functions. It includes a diagram and requires that entities consider the diagram in determining whether
this standard should be applied in accounting for a transaction or event that involves a transfer of functions or a 
merger.

It further covers ‘Definitions’, ‘Identifying a transfer of functions between entities not under common control’, 
‘The acquisition method’, ‘Recognising and measuring the difference between the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed’ and the ‘consideration transferred, Measurement period’, ‘Determining what is part of a transfer of 
functions’, ‘Subsequent measurement and accounting, Disclosure’, ‘Transitional provisions’ as well as the Effective 
date of the standard.

The standard is effective on or after 01 April 2014.

The entity expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the entity’s annual financial statements.

IGRAP 11: Consolidation – Special purpose entities
An entity may be created to accomplish a narrow and well-defined objective (e.g. to effect a lease, for research and 
development activities or as a securitisation of financial assets). Such a special purpose entity (‘SPE’) may take the 
form of a corporation, trust, partnership or unincorporated entity. SPEs are often created with legal arrangements
that impose strict and sometimes permanent limits on the decision-making powers of their management, over the
operations of the SPE. Frequently, these provisions specify that the policy guiding the ongoing activities of the 
SPE cannot be modified, other than perhaps by its creator or sponsor (i.e. they operate on so-called ‘autopilot’). 
The sponsor (or entity on whose behalf the SPE was created) frequently transfers assets to the SPE, obtains 
the right to use assets held by the SPE or performs services for the SPE, while other parties (‘capital providers’) 
may provide the funding to the SPE. An entity that engages in transactions with an SPE (frequently the creator or 
sponsor) may in substance control the SPE. A beneficial interest in an SPE may, for example, take the form of a 
debt instrument, an equity instrument, a participation right, a residual interest or a lease. Some beneficial interests 
may simply provide the holder with a fixed or stated rate of return, while others give the holder rights or access to 
other future economic benefits or service potential of the SPE’s activities. In most cases, the creator or sponsor 
(or the entity on whose behalf the SPE was created) retains a significant beneficial interest in the SPE’s activities, 
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even though it may own little or none of the SPE’s net assets.

The Standard of GRAP on Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements requires the consolidation of entities 
that are controlled by the reporting entity. However, the Standard of GRAP does not provide explicit guidance on 
the consolidation of SPEs. The question is: Under what circumstances should an entity consolidate an SPE? This
interpretation of the Standards of GRAP does not apply to post-employment benefit plans or other long-term 
employee benefit plans to which the Standard of GRAP on Employee Benefits applies.

A transfer of assets from an entity to an SPE may qualify as a sale by that entity. Even if the transfer does qualify 
as a sale, the provisions of the Standard of GRAP on Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and this 
Interpretation of the Standards of GRAP may mean that the entity should consolidate the SPE. The Interpretation 
of the Standards of GRAP does not address the circumstances in which sale treatment should apply for the entity, 
or the elimination of the consequences of such a sale upon consolidation.

The effective date of this interpretation is dependent on, and also runs in conjunction with, the effective date of 
GRAP105,106 and 107. The entity expects to adopt the interpretation for the first time in the 2014 annual financial 
statements.

The adoption of this interpretation is not expected to impact on the results of the entity, but may result in more 
disclosure than is currently provided in the annual financial statements.

IGRAP 12: Jointly controlled entities – Non-monetary contributions by ventures
Paragraph .54 The Standard of GRAP on Interests in Joint Ventures refers to both contributions and sales between 
a venturer and a joint venture as follows: ‘When a venturer contributes or sells assets to a joint venture, recognition 
of any portion of a gain or loss from the transaction shall reflect the substance of the transaction’. In addition, 
paragraph 31 in the Standard of GRAP on Interests in Joint Ventures says that ‘a jointly controlled entity is a joint 
venture that involves the establishment of a corporation, partnership or other entity in which each venturer has an 
interest’. There is no explicit guidance on the recognition of gains and losses resulting from contributions of non-
monetary assets to jointly controlled entities (‘JCEs’).

Contributions to a JCE are transfers of assets by venturers in exchange for an interest in the net asset in the JCE. 
Such contributions may take various forms. Contributions may be made simultaneously by the venturers either 
upon establishing the JCE or subsequently. The consideration received by the venturer(s) in exchange for assets 
contributed to the JCE may also include cash or other consideration that does not depend on future cash flows 
of the JCE (‘additional consideration’).

The issues are:
• When the appropriate portion of gains or losses resulting from a contribution of a non-monetary asset to a 

JCE in exchange for an interest in the net assets in the JCE should be recognised by the venturer in surplus 
or deficit;

• How additional consideration should be accounted for by the venturer; and
• How any unrealised gain or loss should be presented in the consolidation

This Interpretation of the Standards of GRAP deals with the venturer’s accounting for non-monetary contributions 
to a JCE in exchange for an interest in the net assets in the JCE that are accounted for using either the equity 
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method or proportionate consolidation.

The effective date of this interpretation is dependent on, and runs in conjunction with, the effective date of 
GRAP105, 106 and 107. The entity expects to adopt the interpretation for the first time in the 2014 annual 
financial statements. It is unlikely that the interpretation will have a material impact on the entity’s annual financial 
statements.

GRAP 6 (as revised 2010): Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
The definition of ‘minority interest’ has been amended to ‘non-controlling interest’ and paragraph .60 was added 
by the Improvements to the Standards of GRAP issued in November 2010. An entity shall apply these amendments 
prospectively for annual financial periods beginning on or after the effective date [in conjunction with the effective 
date to be determined by the Minister of Finance for GRAP 105, 106 and 107]. If an entity elects to apply these 
amendments earlier, it shall disclose this fact.

Paragraph .59 was amended by Improvements to the Standards of GRAP issued in November 2010. An entity 
shall apply these amendments prospectively for annual financial periods beginning on or after the effective date [in 
conjunction with the effective date to be determined by the Minister of Finance for GRAP 105, 106 and 107] from 
the date at which it first applied the Standard of GRAP on Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations. If an entity elects to apply these amendments earlier, it shall disclose this fact.

The Standards of GRAP on ‘Transfer of Functions Between Entities Under Common Control’, ‘Transfer of Functions 
Between Entities Not Under Common Control’ and ‘Mergers’ amended paragraphs .03, .39, .47 to .50 and added 
paragraphs .51 to .58 and .61 to .62. An entity shall apply these amendments when it applies the Standards 
of GRAP on ‘Transfer of Functions Between Entities Under Common Control’, ‘Transfer of Functions Between 
Entities Not Under Common Control’ and ‘Mergers’.

An entity shall apply this amendment for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after the 
effective date [in conjunction with the effective date to be determined by the Minister of Finance for GRAP 105, 
106 and 107].

The entity expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2014 annual financial statements.

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to impact on the results of the entity, but may result in more 
disclosure than is currently provided in the annual financial statements.
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4. Bequest related investments

Medium to Long-term Investments 

SA Reserve Bank 2,100 500
200 shares at R10.50 per share (2013: 200 shares at R2.50 per share)

5. Trade and other receivables

Trade debtors 217,118 198,419
Accrued interest 11,246 36
Personnel debtors 48,121 5,536

276,485 203,991

Credit quality of trade and other receivables

The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past, nor due, nor impaired, can be assessed by 
referring to historical information about counterparty default rates.

None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been re-negotiated in the last year. The group’s exposure
to credit and currency risks related to trade and other receivables are disclosed in note 33.

Fair value of trade and other receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables (at initial recognition) approximates the invoice amounts related to 
these receivables.

6. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 11,547 5,732

Bank balances 412,902 211,012
Short-term fixed deposits 20,281,498 26,910,217
Call deposits 536,537 327,954
Bank balance - The Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (note 27) 27,680,518 -

48,923,002 27,454,915
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7.Property, plant and equipment

2014 2013

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Plant and machinery 15,602,552 (7,281,185) 8,321,367 15,602,552 (5,720,931) 9,881,621
Furniture and equipment 19,313,020 (11,163,497) 8,149,523 19,166,907 (9,597,413) 9,569,494
Motor vehicles 842,555 (565,455) 277,100 877,555 (506,126) 371,429
Computer equipment 13,733,745 (10,262,701) 3,471,044 10,412,550 (9,093,837) 1,318,713

Total 49,491,872 (29,272,838) 20,219,034 46,059,564 (24,918,307) 21,141,257

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 31 March 2014

Opening balance Additions Disposals Revaluations Depreciation Total

Plant and machinery 9,881,621 - - - (1,560,254) 8,321,367
Furniture and equipment 9,569,494 88,855 (31,494) 297,152 (1,774,484) 8,149,523
Motor vehicles 371,429 - (5,407) - (88,922) 277,100
Computer equipment 1,318,713 3,347,544 (1,154) - (1,194,059) 3,471,044

21,141,257 3,436,399 (38,055) 297,152 (4,617,719) 20,219,034
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 31 March 2013 

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Revalua-

tions

Other 
changes, 

movements
Depreciation Total

Plant and machinery 11,441,874 - - - - (1,560,253) 9,881,621
Furniture and equipment 6,764,425 3,963,014 (1,226) 456,243 (18,500) (1,594,462) 9,569,494
Motor vehicles 252,087 204,316 - - - (84,974) 371,429
Computer equipment 1,115,128 667,108 6,901) - - (456,622) 1,318,713

19,573,514 4,834,438 (8,127) 456,243 (18,500) (3,696,311) 21,141,257

8. Intangible assets

2014 2013

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Computer software  645,724 (576,358) 69,366 1,266,267 (948,564) 317,703

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2014

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Amortisation Total

Computer software 317,703 39,422 (9) (287,750) 69,366

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2013

Opening 
balance Additions

Other 
changes, 

movements
Amortisation Total

Computer software 131,809 512,322 (14,091) (312,337) 317,703

9. Heritage assets
2014 2013

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
impairment 

losses

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
impairment 

losses

Carrying 
value

Library collections 3,354,104 - 3,354,104 - - -
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Reconciliation of heritage assets 2014

Opening 
balance Additions

Capitalisation 
of heritage 

asset reserve
Total

Library collections - 1,255,821 2,098,283 3,354,104

Other information
In terms of the National Library Act of South Africa, Act 92 of 1998, the objects of the National Library are to 
contribute to socio-economic, cultural, educational, scientific and innovative development. This is achieved by 
collecting, recording, preserving and making available, the national documentary heritage and through promoting 
an awareness and appreciation thereof; by fostering information literacy, and by facilitating access to the world’s 
information resources. The objects stated above include all collections / books held by the National Library at both 
the Pretoria and Cape Town campuses.

All the books at NLSA are documentary heritage assets and as such none of the books are written off, but are 
kept for posterity and in perpetuity.

The number of documentary heritage assets as at 31 March 2014 are 1,025,715 books (31 March 2013: 1,007,832
books).

For the period 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014, the NLSA added 17,381 items to their collections. Of these, 2,461 
items were purchased and 15,422 were received via Legal Deposits. The book purchases were expensed in prior 
financial years and capitalised in the current year. Please refer to the ‘additions’ column in the above note for the 
capitalisation of books purchased.

Legal deposit items are those items received at the Pretoria campus and Cape Town campus of the NLSA, in 
terms of the Legal Deposit Act, 54 of 1997. The legal deposit items are capitalised as heritage assets using the 
Capitalisation of Heritage Asset Reserve.

The National Library of South Africa has applied Directive 2 and is exempted from measuring, presenting and 
disclosing those heritage assets as disclosed as at 31 March 2013. The transitional provisions of Directive 2 
expires in June 2015.

In terms of Directive 7: “The Application of Deemed Cost on the Adoption of Standards of GRAP” issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board, the Library will apply deemed cost to Heritage assets where the acquisition cost of 
an asset could not be determined.
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10.   Other financial assets

Available-for-sale
Listed shares held in Sabinet Online Ltd
1,000,000 shares at R3.75 per share (2013: R2.46 per share)

3,750,000 2,460,000

Non-current assets
Available-for-sale 3,750,000 2,460,000

Fair value information and reconciliation 

Information
Financial assets are classified as available-for-sale when the intention with regard to the instrument and its 
origination and design does not fall within the ambit of the other financial asset classification. Available-for-sale 
instruments are typically assets that are held for a longer period and in respect of which short-term fluctuations in 
value do not affect the Library’s decision to hold or sell.

The following classes of financial assets are at fair value and are measured to fair value using quoted market 
prices: Class 1 : Listed shares

The fair value of the financial assets was determined as follows:
• The fair values on investments not listed or quoted are estimated using the director’s valuation.
• The fair values on listed investments are based on current quoted market value of each individual share. Fair 

values are determined annually at ‘statement of financial position’ date.
The entity has not reclassified any financial assets from cost, or amortised cost to fair value; or from fair value to 
cost; or amortised cost during the current year or prior year.

Reconciliation of available-for-sale financial assets measured in level 3 

Reconciliation of available-for-sale financial assets measured in level 3 - 2014

Opening 
balance

Gains or losses in 
Statement of changes 

in Net assets

Closing 
balance

Listed shares 2,460,000 1,290,000 3,750,000

Reconciliation of available-for-sale financial assets measured in level 3 - 2013

Opening 
balance

Gains or losses in 
Statement of changes 

in Net assets

Closing 
balance

Listed shares 2,000,000 460,000 2,460,000
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11. Trade and other payables

Trade payables 1,333,911 1,540,209

Other payables 608,623 656,336

Sundry creditors 695,013 714,610

Accrued leave pay 5,337,970 5,386,952

Accrued bonus 1,281,335 1,230,558

Accruals 330,368 377,040

 9,587,220 9,905,705

Creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The 
average credit period taken is less than 30 days. The Library considers that the carrying value of trade and other 
payables approximates the fair value. Trade payables are not interest bearing. Interest rate risk is detailed in note 
33.

Employees’ entitlement to annual leave and a service bonus is acknowledged when it accrues to the employee. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and service bonus due as a results of services rendered
by employees up to the reporting period.

12. Post Employment Benefit Obligations Defined Benefit Plan

Post Retirement Benefit Plan
The healthcare benefits that the National Library of SA gives to its employees are provided by two medical 
schemes, namely Discovery Health and Bonitas. On 31 March 2014 the membership of the fund was 92 (2013: 
101) permanent employees and 43 (2013: 43) retired employees, a total of 136 (2012: 144) employees. IAC 
Independent Actuaries & Consultants conducted a valuation of the post-retirement liability on 31 March 2014, 
taking into consideration current service costs, interest costs and benefits payments.

Currently the Library has a negative liquidity ratio, which is due to the liability created by the post retirement 
medical aid benefits. At present, this liability does not have an impact on the going concern. However, in the highly 
unlikely event that all library’s employees go on retirement at once, the Library might not be able to settle this 
liability without the financial assistance of the Department of Arts & Culture.

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows: 
Carrying value

Present value of the defined benefit obligation-wholly unfunded (27,519,800)    (26,951,010)

 

Non-current liabilities (26,253,544) (25,875,010)

Current liabilities (1,266,256) (1,076,000)

 (27,519,800) (26,951,010)
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

Opening balance 26,951,010 23,406,759

Current service cost 783,454 703,921

Interest cost 1,989,275 2,061,641

Benefits paid (1,071,347) (977,590)

Actuarial (gain)/loss (1,132,592) 1,756,279

 Closing balance 27,519,800 26,951,010

Key assumptions used as per IAC Actuarial Valuation Report
Assumptions used at the reporting date:
Discount rate 9.36 % 7.42 %
Health care cost inflation per annum  8.16 % 6.94 %
Real rate of return 1.11 % 0.45 %

Assumptions
Impact of a 0.5% increase/decrease in the real rate of return (Gap) of 1.11%  for the period ending 31 March 2014.

 2014 Impact
 % Change R
Real rate of return +0.5% (1,863,470)
 -0.5% 2,090,952

Impact of a 0.5% increase/decrease in the real rate of return (Gap) of 0.45%  for the period ending 31 March 2013

 2013 Impact
 % Change R
Real rate of return +0.5% (1,868,000)
 -0.5% 2,100,000
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13.   Deferred income - Grants received

Deferred income comprised Government and other grants received, to 
be recognised in future accounting periods:
Income related grants

46,520,799 25,750,376

Non-current liabilities 13,606,354 16,559,297

Current liabilities 32,914,445 9,191,079

46,520,799 25,750,376

14.   Investment revaluation reserve

Opening balance 2,443,108 1,985,008

Fair value adjustment 1,291,600 458,100

Closing Balance 3,734,708 2,443,108

15.   Taxation

No provision was made for normal income tax as no liability is anticipated after taking into account that the entity 
is incorporated not for gain and established by an Act of Parliament, Act No. 92 of 1998. The entity is exempted  
from income tax in terms of the Income Tax  Act 58 of 1962.

16.   Revenue

The Government grant related to income represents transfer payment received from the
68,117,000 63,096,000

Department of Arts and Culture as 100% subsidy for carrying out normal business

operations of the NLSA

Deferred income realised represents government grant for conditional grant and special 11,344,552 11,340,108

allocation for capital expenditure

Operating income 599,361 552,817

Actuarial gain 1,132,592 -

Dividends received 103,102 84,214

Interest received 1,971,793 1,544,947

Parking and venue hire 338,075 125,538

Provident fund surplus 1,600,719 -

Rental income 111,608 101,462

Royalties received 144,338 120,154

Sundry income 1,017,451 2,137,017

86,480,591 79,102,257

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services are as follows:

Operating income 599,361 552,817

Actuarial gain 1,132,592 -

Dividends received 103,102 84,214

Interest received - investment 1,971,793 1,544,947

Other income 338,075 125,538

Rental income 111,608 101,462

Royalties received 144,338 120,154

Sundry income 1,017,451 2,137,017

5,418,320 4,666,149
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The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is as follows:

Transfer revenue
Government grant 68,117,000 63,096,000
Provident fund surplus 1,600,719 -
Deferred income realised 11,344,552 11,340,108

81,062,271 74,436,108

17.   Other income
Operating income 599,361 552,817
Actuarial gain 1,132,592 -
Royalties received 144,338 120,154
Rental income - third party 111,608 101,462
Parking & venue hire 338,075 125,538
Sundry income 1,017,451 2,137,017

3,343,425 3,036,988
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18.   General expenses

Actuarial loss - 1,756,278
Advertising 206,027 285,318
Auditors remuneration 1,425,071 1,354,034
Bank charges 86,678 92,706
Board, audit commission fees and travel expenses 467,086 405,584
Book purchases * - 1,273,036
Cleaning 1,859,582 1,755,661
Computer expenses 366,549 426,418
Conferences and seminars 117,314 114,634
Consulting and professional fees 992,675 463,187
Consumables 61,995 26,214
Hosting of events 234,919 206,973
Insurance 420,633 688,936
Motor vehicle expenses 105,234 80,805
Network maintenance & service providers 918,362 1,312,970
Other services (including commercial binding) 240,305 364,710
Photocopier rental & maintenance expenses 59,501 93,683
Postage and courier 367,364 399,762
Printing and stationery 367,583 357,884
Promotions 489,413 590,536
Protective clothing 23,352 4,111
Repairs & maintenance (R4.120m DAC Allocation) refer to 19.4 3,321,221 1,291,783
Security services 2,658,177 2,258,609
Shelving Expenses (DAC Project) refer to 19.3 16,564 117,135
Software expenses 2,451,289 2,117,826
Special project (DAC Conditional Grant) refer to 19.1 3,438,314 5,082,216
Special project (The Gates Foundation)  refer to 19.2 206,279 25,089
Special projects 1,011,667 955,540
Stationery 290,952 223,494
Subscriptions and membership fees 82,140 71,362
Telephone and fax 1,440,504 1,420,030
Training 12,922 205,182
Travel - local 911,810 969,956
Travel - overseas 492,314 901,038
Water & electricity 6,689 4,127

25,150,485 27,696,827

* - Book purchases were capitalised in the current year. Refer to note 9.
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19.   Special Projects

19.1  DAC Conditional Grant
Travel - Local 1,170,966 2,128,490
Postage and courier 47,279 60,189
Consulting and professional fees 589,792 83,165
Computer expense 249,243 532,594
Conference and seminars 8,910 -
Consumables 40,583 23,092
Equipment 43,497 992
Training 42,030 -
Hosting of events 107,335 80,860
Telephone 5,566 27,791
Promotions 487,084 957,476
Personnel cost 646,029 1,187,567

3,438,314 5,082,216

19.2 The Gates Foundation Project
Travel - Local 46,339 25,089
Advertising 55,445 -
Computer equipment 10,773 -
Hosting of events 33,600 -
Promotions 42,509 -
Salary 16,729 -
Bank charges 884 -

206,279 25,089

19.3 DAC Shelving Project

Travel - Local 117,066 16,564

Hosting of events 69 -

117,135 16,564

19.4 Repairs and maintenance (R4.12m)
Pretoria Campus - Maintenance of Aircons 1,030,664 1,291,783

Cape Town Campus - Aircon Chiller 2,290,557 -

3,321,221 1,291,783

20.   Operating deficit

Operating deficit for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Rental of Copiers
Equipment

• Rental of copiers 59,501 93,683

Deficit on sale of property, plant and equipment (32,656) (8,127)

Loss on exchange differences 11,939 237
Amortisation of intangible assets 287,750 312,337
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 4,617,717 3,696,310
Employee costs 54,153,516 50,640,791



National Library of South Africa • Annual Report 2013/14   I  101

National Library of South Africa
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014

Figures in Rand 2014 2013

21.   Employee related costs

Bonus 2,971,099 2,650,348
Bursaries 133,199 257,699
Contract workers 2,224,912 2,027,745
Housing allowance 2,008,014 1,959,184
Medical aid contributions 4,157,682 3,642,353
Overtime 317,202 151,077
Pension fund contributions 843,656 837,776
Post-employment benefit cost 1,929,875 2,061,642
Provident fund contributions 4,550,444 4,063,559
Provision for leave & Leave payout 954,669 2,087,500
Salaries 32,452,345 29,569,568
Staff development 278,646 313,452
Travel and car allowances 788,690 763,931
Unemployment insurance fund 284,604 254,957
Workmen’s Compensation Act 258,479 -

54,153,516 50,640,791

22.   Investment revenue
Dividend revenue
Investments 103,102 84,214

Interest revenue
Bank 1,395,107 1,544,947
Bank - The Gates Foundation 576,686 -

1,971,793 1,544,947
2,074,895 1,629,161

23.   Auditors' remuneration
External audit fees 925,933 907,016
Internal audit fees 449,138 447,018

1,375,071 1,354,034

24.   Cash (used in) / generated from operations

Surplus (deficit)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation

1,729,434

4,905,467

(3,878,302)

4,008,647
Deficit on sale of assets and liabilities 32,656 8,127
Debt impairment 879 4,763
Movements in retirement benefit assets and liabilities 568,790 3,544,256
Other non-cash items
 Changes in working capital: 
Trade and other receivables

19,554

(72,494)

(4,462)

832,710
Prepayments (154,891) -
Trade and other payables (318,485) 1,345,905
Deferred income - Grants received 19,488,819 (6,043,863)

26,199,729 (182,219)



102   I  National Library of South Africa • Annual Report 2013/14

National Library of South Africa
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014

Figures in Rand 2014 2013

25.   Commitments

Authorised capital expenditure

The following commitments were made during the financial year. Services and goods were secured, but 
not yet rendered and delivered as at the end of the financial year:

• Audit & professional expenses (internal and external) 669,571 1,237,307
• Book Purchases (overseas orders) 119,172 79,210
• Tenders awarded 4,601,925 13,431,846
• Conditional grant projects 200,002 1,568,560
• Conditional grant: Provincial coordinators - 391,950

5,590,670 16,708,873

26.   Related parties

Relationships
Board member: Ms. E. Josia-Manuel - resigned July 2013 Refer to 26.1
(Director of Poussiere D'etoiles)
Board member / Chairperson: Ms. E.R Tise Refer to 26.1
(Non-executive board member: Sabinet Online Ltd)
National Librarian: Prof. MD Ralebipi-Simela Refer to 26.1
(Non-executive board member: Sabinet Online Ltd)
Shareholder: Sabinet Online Ltd Refer to 26.1
Controlling National Department: Department of Arts and Culture Refer to 26.1

26.1 Related party balances
Other Financial Assets
Shares held at Sabinet Online Ltd 3,750,000 2,460,000
Related party transactions
Purchases from related parties
Poussiere D'etoiles - 29,890

The Department of Arts and Culture provides 100% funding to the National Library of
SA for its activities.

(68,117,000) (63,096,000)

Dividends and other income received from Sabinet Online Ltd (103,102) (454,422)
Subscriptions and other expenses paid to Sabinet 1,449,974 1,391,252

27.   Events after the reporting date
Professor MD Ralebipi-Simela was appointed on the 1st of May 2014 as the National Librarian of South Africa.

28.   The Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation

Grant Received (95% received during November 2013: $2,780,756) 27,112,371 -

Interest earned as at 31 March 2014 576,686 -
Less: Expenses incurred as at 31 March 2014 (8,539) -
Less: Expenses incurred by NLSA on behalf of project (197,740) -
Recoverable by NLSA during 2014/2015 197,740 -

Balance as per note 6 27,680,518 -
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The National of South Africa (NLSA) received a two-year planning grant in support of a pilot project that focuses on
strengthening local communities through the provision of access to information, technology and relevant training 
in 27 selected public libraries in South Africa, as a precursor to a national large-scale implementation plan. The 
specific needs to be addressed by this pilot grant are locating appropriate technology for accessing information;
identifying new services for community development through enhanced resources and physical spaces; and 
training public users and staff for ICT competency. In addition this grant will address a critical national need 
for establishing a central hub that will ensure stable, uninterrupted and dedicated internet and inter-and intra 
connectivity of the 27 public libraries across the nine provinces.

While there is a strong history of library services in South Africa, the transformation of libraries into vehicles of 
information with open and free access is slow and hampered by a lack of funds, inadequate services and facilities 
as well as poorly trained staff in management and technologies. Together with strong government support, through 
the Conditional Grants of the Community Library Services Grant aimed at redressing the inequalities of the past 
in terms of the provision of library and information services in historically disadvantaged areas, this pilot grant 
will serve to strengthen and consolidate public libraries as true community development partners.  This will be 
undertaken by the focused provision of relevant services and products based on appropriate ICTs and re-skilled 
staff. This access to information will result in economic and personal empowerment and lifelong learning.

The project will also serve as a strong advocacy initiative, strengthening relations with national and corporate 
stakeholders, as well as contributing to the realization of the National Development Plan (NDP) 2030, which is 
focused on eliminating poverty and reducing inequality. This pilot project will undoubtedly contribute substantially 
to addressing the national imperatives related to education, youth unemployment, community development, and 
scarce skills amongst library professionals at local levels. The NLSA is the flagship library of the country and is 
actively supported by the Department of Arts and Culture, which oversees the nine provincial library services. 
The project will be located at the NLSA in Pretoria and will be administered by a dedicated project team led by a 
Project Director. An Advisory Committee representing key stakeholders, including Government, ICT experts and 
the Professional Association, is in place. This committee will oversee and support the Project.

Pertinently this pilot project, in combination with the Global Libraries vast network, will ensure a partnership project 
that promotes access to information and establishes libraries as relevant and vibrant information and community 
centres.

To this end this endeavour will facilitate the paradigm shift of libraries as symbols of elitism and exclusion, being 
transformed into places of sustainable, dynamic, repurposed and connected community hubs that form part of a 
strengthened library system, managed by library workers who are re-skilled to actively work with new resources, 
technologies and revitalized communities. We believe that the envisioned results of this pilot project resonate with 
the Foundation’s education, communication, health and economic benefits and the culture and leisure impact 
areas.
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29. Key Management Personnel Compensation Executive

2014

Emoluments Bonus
Pension or 
provident 

fund
Other 

benefits* Total

Chief Executive Officer 709,497 74,065 194,556 331,050 1,309,168
Deputy National Librarian 796,910 85,229 154,080 1,785 1,038,004
Chief Financial Officer 632,411 72,378 130,940 52,123 887,852
Chief Information Officer 522,572 54,891 82,630 1,487 661,580
Programme Executive : Centre for the 
Book 547,097 58,393 106,395 1,785 713,670
Programme Executive : Preservation 
Services 600,968 - 118,126 32,029 751,123
Executive Head : Corporate & 
International Relations 489,194 34,395 107,639 40,161 671,389

Executive Head : Human Resources 611,745 24,461 105,787 1,785 743,778
4,910,394 403,812 1,000,153 462,205 6,776,564

2013
Emoluments Bonus Pension or 

provident 
fund

Other 
benefits*

Total

Deputy National Librarian 728,941     80,582 144,148 1,641 955,312

Chief Financial Officer 594,919 67,435 119,118 46,976 828,448

Chief Information Officer 555,869 55,017 101,050 1,641 713,577

Programme Executive : Centre for the 
Book 502,764 49,370 96,537 4,489 653,160

Programme Executive : Preservation 
Services 563,358 19,183 106,688 28,880 718,109

Executive Head : Corporate & 
International Relations  453,399 28,311 97,820 36,097 615,627

Executive Head : Human Resources 559,441 - 96,624 8,217 664,282
4,679,443 363,111 955,648 185,020 6,183,222

* Other benefits comprise UIF contributions, medical and termination benefits

Non-executive

2014 (Board and Audit Committee)

Fees Subsidence and 
travel

Total

Ms E.R Tise (Chairperson of the Board) 27,848 - 27,848
Mr P Coates ^ 6,552 - 6,552
Mr L.A.O Ebrahim 36,594 2,014 38,608
Ms R. Kalidass 14,592 - 14,592
Dr. W.P Rowland 33,736 1,173 34,909
Dr. D.S. Selematsela 25,830 3,049 28,879
Ms E.M Josias-Manuel ^ 1,872 2,221 4,093
Prof. L.J. Teffo 17,082 2,248 19,330
Mr J.R. Morakile 20,592 4,422 25,014
Mr K.D. Madumo * - 3,411 3,411
Ms. MM Nkomo (Audit Comm Chair) 20,352 1,215 21,567
Mr P. Nel (Audit Comm) 12,336 1,377 13,713
Mr N. Cronje (Audit Comm) 12,336 829 13,165

229,722 21,959 251,681
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2013 (Board and Audit Committee)

Fees Travel  
allowance

Total

Ms E.R Tise (Chairperson of the Board) 13,014 - 13,014
Prof. G.M Nkondo 8,676 - 8,676
Mr L.A.O Ebrahim 30,429 1,419 31,848
Ms R. Kalidass 5,573 724 6,297
Dr. W.P Rowland 10,308 150 10,458
Dr. D.S. Selematsela 5,304 212 5,516
Ms E.M Josias-Manuel 5,304 3,803 9,107
Prof. L.J. Teffo 5,304 - 5,304
Mrs T. Barben 13,530 - 13,530
Dr K. Kganyago 19,101 1,664 20,765
Ms J. Matlala 7,956 541 8,497
Ms U. Satgoor 7,956 - 7,956
Ms B. Dlamini 1,421 - 1,421
Ms MM Nkomo (Audit Comm Chair) 15,462 818 16,280
Mr K. Moloko (Audit Comm) 9,621 1,263 10,884
Mr P. Nel (Audit Comm) 2,921 276 3,197
Mr. N. Cronje (Audit Comm) 2,921 56 2,977

164,801 10,926 175,727

Notes
* - Mr KD Madumo is a public sector employee therefore the NLSA only reimburses his cost of travel.
^ - Ms EM Josias-Manuel resigned from the board of the NLSA. Mr P. Coates was appointed to the board to fill 
the vacant seat.

30. Change in estimate

Property, plant and equipment - 2014

The residual values of furniture and equipment were reassessed by management in the current year. The effect of
this revision has increased the carrying value for the current and future periods by R297,152.

Asset Category New Value Old Value
Effect on the 

change in 
estimate

Furniture and equipment 19,313,020 19,015,868 297,152

Property, plant and equipment - 2013
The residual value of furniture and equipment was reassessed by management in the current year. The effect of 
this revision has increased the carrying value for the current and future periods by R456,243.

Asset Category New Value Old Value
Effect on the 

change in 
estimate

Furniture and equipment 19,166,907 18,710,664 456,243

19,166,907 18,710,664 456,243
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31. Prior period errors

Revenue transactions were not accounted for in terms of the accrual basis and this resulted in transactions being 
documented in the incorrect accounting period.

Money received from FLISD was incorrectly accounted for in terms of GRAP 23 as deferred income liability instead 
of revenue.

The correction of the errors results in adjustments as follows:

Statement of financial position
Deferred income liability (non-current portion) - 1,281,604
Opening Accumulated Surplus or Deficit - 1,266,581

Statement of Financial Performance
Rental income - 9,224

Parking and venue hire - 5,800
Sundry income - 1,281,604

Cash flow statement

Cash flow from operating activities
Other income

- 1,550,779
Grants - (254,151)

- 1,296,628

32.   Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified.

33.   Risk management

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Library would not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Library manages liquidity risk through the compilation and monitoring of cash flow forecasts as well as ensuring 
that there are adequate banking facilities.The maturity profiles of the financial instruments are summarised as 
follows:

At 31 March 2014 Less than 1 Between 1 and
5 years Over 5 years Total

Trade and other payables 9,587,220 - - 9,587,220

Post employment benefit obligation 1,260,256 - 26,253,544 27,519,800

At 31 March 2013 Less than 1 Between 1 and
5 years Over 5 years Total

Trade and other payables 9,905,705 - - 9,905,705

Post employment benefit obligation 1,076,000 - 25,875,010      26,951,010
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Interest rate risk
The entity’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings and cash held in the bank. Borrowing and holding cash at 
variable rates exposed the group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings and cash at fixed rates exposed the 
entity to fair value interest rate risk.

The Entity’s Interest rate profile of interest-bearing financial instruments at 31 March 2014 was:

At 31 March 2014 Current interest 
rate

Due in less 
than a year

Due in one to 
two years

Due in two to 
three years

Due in three 
to four years Total

Short term fixed deposits 5.32 % 47,629,486 - - - 47,629,486
`

The Entity’s interest rate profile of interest-bearing financial instruments at 31 March 2013 was:

At 31 March 2013 Current interest 
rate

Due in less 
than a year

Due in one to 
two years

Due in two to 
three years

Due after 
three years Total

Short term fixed deposits 4.80 % 26,910,217 - - - 26,910,217

The following table shows the sensitivity of the net results for the year to a reasonable change in interest rates of 50 
basis points, while all other variables are held constant:

Profit and loss +50bp (238,147) (134,551)

Profit and loss 50bp 238,147 134,551

Credit risk 
As at 31 March 2014, the Library did not consider there to be any significant concentrated credit risk that had not 
been insured or adequately provided for.

Potential concentrations of credit risk consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents as well as trade receivables. 
The Library limits its counterparty exposures from its money market investment operations by dealing only with 
well-established financial institutions of high quality credit standing. Credit exposure to any one counterparty is 
managed by monitoring transactions.

Trade debtors comprise a large number of customers, dispersed across different industries and geographical 
areas. Where appropriate, the necessary credit guarantees are arranged. Trade and other receivables are shown 
net of impairment. In the current year no impairment occurred on trade receivables.

The Library is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties. The Library 
continually monitors its positions and the credit rating of its counterparties and limits the extent to which it enters
into transactions with any one party.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at year-end were as follows:
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`

 NLSA - 2014   NLSA - 2013
 0 - 12 months    0 - 12 months 
 R R
Trade and other receivables 276,485 203,991
Cash and cash equivalents 48,590,472 27,454,915

Fair value of financial instruments
In the opinion of management the carrying value of financial instruments approximates their fair value except for 
available ‘for sale’ investments.

Financial instruments not traded in an active market
As at 31 March 2014 the carrying amounts of cash and short-term deposits, accounts receivables, investments 
(except for available ‘for sale’ investments), accounts payable and short-term borrowings approximated their fair 
values due to the short term maturities of these assets and liabilities.

Financial instruments traded in an active market
Financial instruments traded in an organised financial market are measured at the current quoted market price and 
adjusted for any transaction costs necessary to realise the assets or settle the liabilities.

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign currency exposures arise from the purchase of books. Forward exchange contracts are not utilised to 
manage exposures relating to confirmed commitments.

Forward exchange contracts - recognised transactions
No forward exchange contracts were entered into during the financial year ended 31 March 2014.

Uncovered foreign exchange exposure
At year-end the Library was not exposed to any material foreign currency denominated assets nor liabilities for 
which no forward cover had been taken out.

Sensitivity analysis
As the Library has no significant foreign currency exposure at year-end, the effect of a 1% strengthening or 
weakening of the Rand against the foreign currencies at balance sheet date is not considered material.

34. Going concern

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable 
to a going concern.

We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March 2014, the entity had an accumulated deficit of R (12,648,491). Due 
to the liability created by the post-retirement medical aid benefit, the entity’s total liabilities exceed its assets by R 
(6,094,391). The entity may not be able to settle its financial obligation as they fall due without the assistance of 
the Department of Arts and Culture.
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35.   Irregular expenditure
Opening balance 734,391 -
Irregular Expenditure - current year 1,269,390 734,391
Less: Amounts condoned (692,391) -

1,311,390 734,391

Details of irregular expenditure – current year

SCM related costs: Non compliance with Treasury Regulation 
section 8, paragraph 8.2.1 20,006

SCM related costs: Non compliance with valid tax certificate 42,000
Forensic report: ICT expenditure deemed irregular: 2014 financial year 267,130
Forensic report: ICT expenditure deemed irregular: 2013 financial year 430,675
Forensic report: ICT expenditure deemed irregular: prior to 2013 financial year 551,579

1,311,390
Details of irregular expenditure condoned                
                                                                                                 Condoned by 
SCM related costs: Non compliance with the                        National Treasury
80/20 principle 37,322

SCM related costs: Non compliance with not                 National Treasury
stipulating the evaluation criteria of 80-20 for 
quotations above R30,000. 655,069

692,391

36. Contingencies 

Contingent assets
Subsequent to the disciplinary hearing in respect of the report of the forensic investigation into various alleged 
irregularities involving the ICT department of the National Library of South Africa, possible recoveries will result. Civil 
proceedings have commenced against the employee concerned to recover the amount. According to Library’s 
legal advisors, it is probable that the proceedings will result in the recovery, however, this amount is uncertain.

37. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 1,249,384 -

A forensic investigation into various alleged irregularities involving the ICT department of the National Library of 
South Africa was conducted by PwC relating to payments made to ICT suppliers. The investigation concluded 
that some of services were not rendered to the National Library of South Africa, however, the percentage of 
services not received cannot be quantified.
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